
 

 

 

 

 

 

Board Packet 
Regular Board Meeting 

March 20, 2018 

 

 

 



POSTED March 16, 2018 

 

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
 
Date:  March 20, 2018 
 
Location: GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 
  2828 WALKER FIELD DR. 
  GRAND JUNCTION, CO 81506 
  AIRPORT TERMINAL - 3rd FLOOR CONFERENCE ROOM 
 
Time: 5:15 PM 
 
BOARD MEETING AGENDA  

 
I. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance 

 
II. Approval of Agenda 

 
III. Introduce New Board Member 

A. Ron Velarde, Mesa County Appointee 
 

IV. Commissioner Comments 
 

V. Citizens Comments 
The Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority welcomes respectful public 
comments at its meetings. The Citizens Comment section is open to all individuals 
that would like to comment. If you wish to speak under the Citizens Comment portion 
of the agenda, please fill out a comment card prior to the meeting. If you have a 
written statement for the Board, please have 10 copies available and give them to the 
Executive Director who will distribute them to the Board. The Board Chairman will 
indicate when you may come forward and comment. Please state your name for the 
record. Presentations are limited to three minutes and yielding time to others is not 
permitted. Speakers are to address the Chairman, not each other or the audience, and 
are expected to conduct themselves in an appropriate manner. The use of abusive or 
profane language shall not be allowed. No debate or argument between speakers 
and/or members of the audience shall be permitted. 

 
VI. Discussion & Action Item 

A. Final 2017 audit presentation (Lisa Meacham & Chase Lloyd – EKS&H) 
B. Invoice and Final Audit Approval      1 

 

VII. Consent Agenda 
The Consent Agenda is intended to allow the Board to spend its time on the more 
complex items on the agenda. These items are perceived as non-controversial and can 
be approved by a single motion. The public or Board Members may ask that an item 
be removed from the Consent Agenda and be considered individually. 



POSTED March 16, 2018 

A. February 20, 2018 Meeting Minutes      2 
B. G4S invoice         3 
C. Goodwin invoice         4 
D. DKMG invoice – rates & charges review     5 
E. Garver Invoice – taxiway A design      6 
F. Garver Invoice – east apron                                                                         7 
G. Mead & Hunt invoice - boarding bridge design    8 
H. Mead & Hunt invoice - terminal renovations design    9 
I. Sky Adventures sublease agreement      10 

 
VIII. Staff Reports 

A. Director’s and activity report (Angela Padalecki) 
B. Financial report (Ty Minnick)  
C. Operations report (Mark Papko) 
D. Projects report (Eric Trinklein) 
 

IX. Action Items 
A. Junction Aero Tech Tri-Party Agreement     11 
B. Hub service agreement extension       12 

 
X. Any other business which may come before the Board 

 
XI. Executive Session for conferences with an attorney for the local public body for the 

purposes of receiving legal advice on specific legal questions as authorized by C.R.S. 
Section 24-6-402(4)(b) and for determining positions relative to matters that may be 
subject to negotiations; developing strategy for negotiations; and instructing 
negotiators as authorized under C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(e). 
 

XII. Adjournment 
 
 

 
 



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: EKS&H presentation of 2017 Audit 
 

PURPOSE: Information ☒ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

LAST ACTION The Board approved 2017 audit engagement of EKS&H at the July 
2017 board meeting 
 

RECOMMENDATION: The Audit Committee is recommending the Board approve the 2017 
audit as presented by EKS&H and the corresponding invoice for 
$41,629.22 in accordance with the 2017 audit engagement as 
approved at the July 2017 board meeting 
 

DISCUSSION: Included in the board packet is the opinion presented by EKS&H on 
the 2017 audit.  In that opinion, the financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of the Airport Authority.  
There was also an audit of the Passenger Facility Charges, Internal 
Control Over Financial Reporting and Schedule of Financial 
Expenditures; these opinions express the Airport Authority is in 
compliance, in all material respects. 
 
The full audit will be posted on the airport website. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: 2017 Financial Statement opinion 
Invoice 285109 for $41,629.22 
 

STAFF CONTACT: Tom Benton & Ty Minnick 

 

 



N
O

T 
TO

 B
E
 R

E
LI

E
D

 U
P
O

N
 —

 S
U

B
JE

C
T 

TO
 M

A
TE

R
IA

L 
C

H
A

N
G

E

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

Board of Commissioners
Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority
Grand Junction, Colorado

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of Grand
Junction Regional Airport Authority (the "Authority") as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Authority's basic financial
statements as listed in the table of contents.

MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

AUDITORS' RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.



N
O

T 
TO

 B
E
 R

E
LI

E
D

 U
P
O

N
 —

 S
U

B
JE

C
T 

TO
 M

A
TE

R
IA

L 
C

H
A

N
G

E

Board of Commissioners
Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority
Page Two

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion. 

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the business-type activities of Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority as of
December 31, 2017 and 2016, and the changes in its financial position and its cash flows for the years
then ended in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.

OTHER MATTERS

Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management's discussion and analysis on pages 4 - 23 and the pension information on pages 50 - 51 be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the
basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to
the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses
to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of
the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an
opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic financial statements as a
whole. The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S.
Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and the schedule of expenditures of passenger facility
charges, as required by the Federal Aviation Administration, are presented for purposes of additional
analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to
the auditing procedures applied in the audits of the basic financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the schedule of expenditures of
federal awards and the schedule of expenditures of passenger facility charges are fairly stated, in all
material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.



N
O

T 
TO

 B
E
 R

E
LI

E
D

 U
P
O

N
 —

 S
U

B
JE

C
T 

TO
 M

A
TE

R
IA

L 
C

H
A

N
G

E

Board of Commissioners
Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority
Page Three

OTHER REPORTING REQUIRED BY GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated March 1,
2018, on our consideration of the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, grant agreements, and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Authority's internal
control over financial reporting and compliance. 

EKS&H LLLP

March 1, 2018
Denver, Colorado





February 20, 2018 Minutes – Page 1 
 
 

  
Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board 

Board Meeting 
 Meeting Minutes 
February 20, 2018 

 
REGULAR BOARD MEETING   
Time: 5:15PM  

I. Call to Order & Pledge of Allegiance. 
Mr. Rick Taggart, Board Chairman, called the Meeting of the Grand Junction Regional 
Airport Authority Board to order at 5:15 PM on February 20, 2018 in Grand Junction, 
Colorado and in the County of Mesa. 

 
II. Approval of Agenda 

  
Commissioner Brabaek moved for the Board to approve the agenda as presented. 
Commissioner Shrader seconded. Voice Vote. All Ayes.  

 
 

III. Commissioner  Comments 
 
Commissioner Benton stated that there is an Audit Committee appointment on the 
Consent Agenda of Steve Hovland. He has been on the audit staff of Dalby Wendland for 
about 15 years and brings great experience to the Finance and Audit Committee. 

Commissioners Present: 
Rick Taggart 
Tom Benton, Vice-Chairman 
Chuck McDaniel 
Robin Brown  
Erling Brabaek 
Clay Tufly 
Thaddeus Shrader 
 
Airport Staff: 
Angela Padalecki, Executive Director 
Victoria Hightower, Clerk 
Chance Ballegeer, Deputy Clerk 
Ty Minnick 
Eric Trinklein 
Shelagh O’Kane  

Other: 
 Jared Easterlin, Mead & Hunt 
Brad Wolf, Mead & Hunt 
Mike Griffin, Garver  
Colin Bible, Garver 
Frank McIllwain, Garver 
Scott Cary, Mead & Hunt 
Diane Schwenke, Chamber  
C.J. Rhyne, Chamber 
Shannon Kinslow, TOIL 
Bradley Sullivan, CHA 
 



February 20, 2018 Minutes – Page 2 
 
 

Commissioner Benton said that the committee members have reviewed his resume and 
are making the recommendation to add Mr. Hovland to the committee.  
 
Chairman Taggart commented that Commissioners are working towards a more 
consistent approach outside of citizen comments for members of the community to bring 
their points of view on subjects from time-to-time. Chairman Taggart stated that since he 
has been on the board, they have not had a good and consistent way of doing that, so that 
citizens know what to expect. Chairman Taggart stated that if fellow commissioners are 
fine with this, he suggested putting it on as a topic for the governance workshop. 
Chairman Taggart said that the other concern was the number of minutes for citizen 
comments. They’ve had the three minute rule as many other entities, but they can also 
revisit that at that meeting as well.        
 

IV. Citizen Comments 
None. 
 

V. Consent Agenda 
A. January 16, 2018 Meeting Minutes 
B. G4S invoice 
C. DKMG invoice 
D. Garver Invoice – taxiway A design 
E. Mead & Hunt invoice – boarding bridge design 
F. Mead & Hunt invoice – terminal renovations design 
G. Beacon – third floor office renovation 
H. Audit Committee appointment  

 
Commissioner Tufly moved to approve the Consent Agenda. Commissioner Benton 
seconded. Voice Vote. All Ayes. 
 

VI. Staff Reports 
A. Directors report 

Ms. Padalecki stated that staff had a great meeting with the FAA to discuss the 
runway project and the grant process overall. Ms. Padalecki stated that in her opinion 
that meeting couldn’t have gone any better, and that partnership is a very strong one. 
Ms. Padalecki said that they are still working on minimum standards. The Airport is 
still working on a draft that they feel comfortable sharing with the public and sharing 
with their tenant to solicit feedback. Ms. Padalecki said that they anticipate that to be 
an interactive process, but they want to be sure that the draft they put out there is one 
they are comfortable with. Ms. Padalecki thanked Commissioner Brown and 
Commissioner McDaniel for their help. Ms. Padalecki briefed the board on capacity 
as measured in seats coming into the airport. Right now the scheduled seats on 
commercial aircraft are down in every month for the first six months of 2018. Ms. 
Padalecki said that the main driver there is United and them down gauging to 50 seat 
aircraft. Ms. Padalecki said that a couple years ago American Airlines started moving 
away from the 50 seat aircraft. United’s President, Scott Kirby, has talked about and 
made it very clear with United’s intentions in their mid-continent hubs (Chicago, 



February 20, 2018 Minutes – Page 3 
 
 

Denver and Huston) and he feels like they made a mistake, in the last few years and 
let a lot of their customers leak to other airlines. They have recently acquired 40, 50 
seater jets via Air Wisconsin. Ms. Padalecki said that Grand Junction is a perfect 
airport to use those types of aircraft, but in the short term, that means that they will 
see United actually down gauging into these smaller aircraft so that is why they have 
fewer seats coming in. Ms. Padalecki said that she sees this as a huge opportunity for 
the airport, because those are the types of aircraft that, she believes, there is demand 
here for and demand they can support. Ms. Padalecki said that for the first six months 
of the year, that means that their actual scheduled seats into their airport are down 
every month and can be down as low as 10%. Ms. Padalecki said that over the next 
month, she plans to meet with each airline at their headquarters. Ms. Padalecki gave a 
brief report on diversions. In January they had 44 diversions, these are commercial 
aircraft only. Most of them were United, some American Airlines and some Delta 
Airlines. Ms. Padalecki said that Tailwinds had their best day recently on a diversion 
day, so the airport generates a lot of extra non-airline revenue on those days and they 
also generate some extra airline revenue. In general, the average aircraft, just by them 
landing here the airport makes about $100 each in landing fees, if they offload on a 
jet bridge they make a little bit more money. Ms. Padalecki said that it looks like they 
made about an extra $5000 or so off diversions in January. Ms. Padalecki said that an 
added value is having all those people getting to see Grand Junction who weren’t 
expecting to do so.        
  

B. Financial report 
Mr. Minnick briefed the Board on the airport’s current financial status (financial 
results report created by Ty Minnick)  
 

Assets – The net increase in cash is from the collection of the $1,500,000 of accounts 
received from the FAA from the 12/31/16 balance, there was also a pay down of 
capital accounts payable of approximately $800,000. Restricted cash increase is 
consistent with PFC collections. 
 
Liabilities – As discussed in the asset section, there was a pay down of capital payable 
of approximately $800,000 in the normal course of business. 
 
Operating Revenue – Total operating revenue is consistent with budget and prior 
year with a total of approximately $495,000.  
 
Operating Expense – The operating expenses are consistent with budget and prior 
year with minor variances in compensation due to the budget of 29 employees versus 
actual of 27 employees. All other expense amounts appear to be reasonable compared 
to budget resulting in a net operating income of $150,000. 
 
Non-operating Expense – Amounts are consistent with actual and budget resulting in 
excess revenue for the month of approximately $200,000.   
 
 



February 20, 2018 Minutes – Page 4 
 
 

C. Activity report 
Ms. Shelagh O’Kane briefed the Board. Ms. O’Kane stated that enplanements are 
down for the month of January comparative to last year and it’s also down over their 
five year average by about 3.5%. Ms. O’Kane said that enplanements are down 
overall by about 8.5%. 
 

D. Projects update 
Mr. Trinklein briefed the board on the status of the current terminal (passenger 
loading bridge, roof replacement, and escalator replacement, terminal main atrium 
HVAC) projects at the airport. Mr. Trinklein said they had a pre-bid meeting on 
Friday and ten different contractors attended that meeting. Mr. Trinklein said the 
main point of that outreach was to let local contractors know about these projects. 
 
Passenger Loading Bridge  
 Converts Gate 1 to fixed covered walkway 
 757 capable 
 Improves utilization of lower hold room area 
 Bid period: 1/31 to 2/23 
 Pre-bid meeting 2/16 
 Contractor selection/award in April 
 Construction Q2-Q3 
 Cost Estimate $1.5 to $2M 
 Scheduled Completion Q3 2018 

 
Partial Terminal Roof Replacement 
 Replacing Portions of second and third floor roofing 
 Bid period: 2/6 to 3/2 
 Pre-bid meeting 2/16 
 Contractor selection/award in April 
 Construction Q2-Q3 
 Cost Estimate: $400K to $500K 
 Scheduled Completion Q3 2018 

 
Escalator Replacement 
 Both main terminal escalators 
 Bid period: 2/6 to 3/2 
 Pre-bid meeting 2/16 
 Contractor selection/award in April 
 Construction Q2-Q3 
 Cost Estimate $440K to $540K 
 Scheduled Completion Q3 2018 

 
Terminal Main Atrium HVAC 
 Last remaining zone that is under the original system 
 Improve terminal user experience 
 Contractor selection/award in May 



February 20, 2018 Minutes – Page 5 
 
 

 Begin construction Q3 
 Cost estimate: $1.2M to $1.8M 
 Scheduled Completion Q4 2018 

 
Mr. Trinklein said that another project moving forward is the 3rd floor Administration 
Offices project to consolidate Administrative Staff. 

 Enabling work is underway to remove TSA security system 
 Design/build project 
 Bid period: 2/23 to 3/23 
 Contactor selection/award in April 
 Construction Q2-Q3 
 Budget: $150,000 
 Scheduled Completion: Q3 2018 

Staff anticipates a May 1st takeover of the space. 
 
Taxiway A Rehabilitation project  
Mr. Trinklein said that this goes in the category of existing airfield maintenance that 
the airport needs to keep in order to maintain operation. This is the heavily used ends 
that aircraft wait to get on the primary runway. 
 Design-only contract with Garver 
 Ready for bid 4/1 in anticipation of FAA Grant 
 Grant $1,700,000 
 Scheduled construction completion Q4 2018 

 
 
Runway 12/30 
 30% design is complete 
 FAA review is complete 
 Revised cost estimates underway 
 2018 enabling projects will take place this summer 

• Relocate 27 ¼ Rd. (Budget: $2,321,00) 
• Relocate Remote Transmitter/Receiver (RTR) (Budget: $4,002,000) 

 60% design due August 2018 
 Cost Estimate $132.3M 
 Anticipated runway open 2025-2028  

Mr. Trinklein stated that the 30% design and the 60% design were covered under that 
airport’s 2016/2017 entitlement funds. 

  
 
VII. Action Items 

 
A. Mead & Hunt Invoice – Runway design 

 
Mr. Trinklein briefed the Board and said that AIP 55 was a portion of their 2016 
entitlements and AIP 56 is a portion of their 2017 entitlements. This invoice uses 



February 20, 2018 Minutes – Page 6 
 
 

portions of both. This work includes ongoing work for the 30% runway design, the 
RTR Grading package and 27 ¼ Road design.   
 
Commissioner Benton moved for the Board to approve Pay Request for 11/29 
Replacement Project (Design Only), for the invoice associated with Runway Design 
and the RTR Grading Package at 27 1/7 Road.  Commissioner Shrader seconded. 
Voice Vote. All Ayes   
 

B. FAA Reimbursable Agreement - RTR  
 
Mr. Trinklein briefed the Board. Prior to commencement of earthwork on the 
replacement runway, the Remote Transmitter/Receiver (RTR) must be relocated. This 
facility is communication equipment used by the Air Traffic Control Tower (ATCT) 
to communicate with aircraft. This project is 90% reimbursable by FAA as an 
enabling project for the replacement runway. CDOT Division of Aeronautics will also 
contribute a portion of the funds. 
 
Federal - $560,918 
State - $31,162 
GJRA - $40,163.32 
Total: $632,243.32 
 
Commissioner Benton moved for the Board to approve staff recommendation for the 
Non-Federal Reimbursable Agreement, RTR Relocation Agreement Construction 
Program in the amount of $632,243.32. Commissioner Brown seconded. Voice Vote. 
All Ayes.  
 

C. RFI – Administration Building 
  
Ms. Padalecki briefed the Board. The Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority is 
looking for a partner to develop and deliver on an Administration Building Project, 
using a Public-Private-Partnership (P3) framework to finance, design, build, and 
operate the Building. Construction of the Building, located at 800 Eagle Drive, began 
in 2012, and $4.1 million was invested before construction stopped in 2013. The 
Building remains in a 50% completion status. Staff plans on keeping the Request for 
Information open for 90 days.  
 
Mr. Trinklein noted that staff is requesting a waiver to the Code of Conduct to be able 
to submit this to contractors so that this process can be more collaborative.  
 
Commissioner Benton moved for the Board to approve staff recommendation to reach 
out to potential public partners and solicit information on the development of the 
Administration Building from February 21st to May 21st 2018 and waive section 3.4 of 
the Code of Conduct for this particular RFI. Commissioner Brown seconded. Voice 
Vote. All Ayes.   

 



February 20, 2018 Minutes – Page 7 
 
 

VIII. Discussion Items 
A. Foreign Trade Zone 

Ms. Padalecki stated that this will require a vote by the Board to approve Ms. 
Padalecki submitting the application. 
 
Chairman Taggart recused himself from the discussion and the vote due to a conflict 
of interest. The City indorsed this and he was a part of that decision as President of 
the City Council and the Mayor.  
 
Commissioner Brown recused herself from the discussion and the vote based on 
Grand Junction Economic Partnership, also taking the position and helping build the 
application.  
 
Commissioner Tufly recused himself from the discussion and vote due to him being 
the current Chairman of the Grand Junction Chamber.  
 
Diane Schwenke, with the Grand Junction Chamber, briefed the Board on the details 
of the application and the benefits to having a Foreign Trade Zone (FTZ) at the Grand 
Junction Regional Airport. Ms. Schwenke handed out another letter of support from 
the Fruita City Council. Ms. Schwenke said that what a FTZ does for companies is 
first, a delay in tariff, no tariff is payed until it’s actually pulled out of inventory. 
Second, they have the streamlining in terms of the submitting of the information to 
customs and it can be filed once a week instead of every time every instrument shows 
up. Last, if they are utilizing that product for production and it’s going into a product 
that is eventually going to be exported, tariff is never paid on it. Ms. Schwenke stated 
that in order to start this process, there has to be an agreement with Customs and 
Border Patrol that they will have someone located in the Airport’s FTZ. Having a 
Customs official here turns the airport into a user fee airport, which means “we” (all 
those agreeing in support of the FTZ) will absorb the cost. Ms. Schwenke said that all 
of the conversations they have had throughout the region, they have said this is not 
going to happen immediately, so those annual costs are going to have to be picked up 
by everyone as partners. Ms. Schwenke said that their latest projections in annual cost 
have been modified because they were told since they are looking at 60 miles or 90 
mins drive time, they would need to include a car or transportation for the Customs 
Officer. There were a couple of other things that were added in, and at the end of the 
day the annual cost is budgeted on the top end and the Airport would pick up the cost 
rental cost of the space, the cost for utilities etc. The Airport’s in-kind cost on an 
annual basis would be somewhere in the neighborhood of $175,000-$200,000. That 
would leave about another $150,000-175,000 that would be picked up by other 
entities and that was the base of the conversations they stated having and they started 
getting letters of support. 
 
Commissioner McDaniel made a motion for the Board to approve Ms. Angela 
Padalecki to sign and submit the application for User Fee Facility on behalf of the 
Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority. Commissioner Brabaek seconded. Voice 
Vote. All Ayes.        



February 20, 2018 Minutes – Page 8 
 
 

 
 

IX. Executive session  
 
Commissioner Brabaek moved for the Board to move into Executive Session for 
conference with an attorney for the local public body for the purposes of receiving legal 
advice on specific legal questions as authorized by C.R.S. Section 24-6-402(4)(b) and for 
determining positions relative to matters that may be subject to negotiations; developing 
strategy for negotiations; and instructing negotiators as authorized under C.R.S. Section 
24-6-402(4)(e). Commissioner Shrader seconded. Voice Vote. All Aye. 
 

X. Any other business which may come before the Board 
None.  
 

XI. Adjournment    
 
Open meeting adjourned at approximately 7:16PM   
 

 
 

Rick Taggart, Board Chairman 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
Victoria Hightower, Clerk to the Board 
 
 



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  G4S Invoice 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends the Board authorize the payment of G4S 
Invoice 8701610 for the amount of $11,524.90 

LAST ACTION: Approved January Invoice. 

DISCUSSION: This invoice is the monthly billing for February 2018 for the 
ongoing monthly costs for security guard services in the 
Terminal. This cost is recovered from signatory air-carriers.  
 
The invoice exceeds $10,000, therefore requiring Board approval. 
 
Staff has verified the amount and the scope of work has been 
completed. 

FISCAL IMPACT: $11,524.90 

COMMUNICATION    
STRATEGY: 

N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: G4S Invoice 8701610 

STAFF CONTACT: Chance Ballegeer 
Email: cballegeer@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8586 
 

 
 
 



2828 Walker Field Dr Ste 301

Grand Junction CO 81506-8667

Services Rendered for:  02/01/2018  through  02/28/2018

Service 

Location:

Grand Junction CO 81506-8667

INVOICE

Bill To:

2828 Walker Field Dr Ste 301

Please include the invoice number

with your payment and remit to:

        PO Box 277469
        Atlanta GA 30384-7469 
       

Have billing questions? Email us:

Purchase orders:  poinfo@usa.g4s.com
Other inquiries:  billinghelp@usa.g4s.com

Website:       www.g4s.us 

Contact Us:    (303) 341-4433

Invoice No:         8701610

Amount Due:         $11,524.90  

Invoice Date:       02/28/2018  

Terms:              Payment Due 30 Days

Due Date:           03/30/2018

Customer No:        134423

PO Number:          

G4S Secure Solutions (USA) Inc.
1395 University Blvd | Jupiter FL 33458

Federal ID:   590857245

Chance Ballegeer

Grand Junction Regional Airport Authorit

CUSTOM PROTECTION SERVICES
Grand Junction
Regional Airport

Invoice Description:

Week Begin Week End Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday  Friday Saturday

 

 Sunday  Qty 
Amount  Total Other                  

  Hours  ($)  

Culton,Chadwick D

01/29/2018  0.00 22.7502/04/2018  0.00  0.00  0.00  12.50  0.00  10.25 0.00

02/05/2018  0.00 49.5802/11/2018  5.50  0.00  0.00  2.33  13.00  16.25 12.50

02/12/2018  0.00 32.2502/18/2018  0.00  4.50  5.00  9.75  0.00  13.00 0.00

02/19/2018  0.00 30.0502/25/2018  0.00  0.00  4.50  10.05  0.00  12.50 3.00

Falk,Darin H

01/29/2018  0.00 14.0002/04/2018  0.00  0.00  8.00  0.00  0.00  6.00 0.00

02/05/2018  0.00 47.0002/11/2018  7.00  12.50  15.00  12.50  0.00  0.00 0.00

02/12/2018  0.00 37.5002/18/2018  12.50  0.00  0.00  0.00  12.50  0.00 12.50

02/19/2018  0.00 39.0802/25/2018  12.50  12.33  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 14.25

02/26/2018  0.00 38.5003/04/2018  12.75  12.50  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 13.25

Troncoso,Daniel L

01/29/2018  0.00 21.0002/04/2018  0.00  0.00  7.00  1.50  12.50  0.00 0.00

02/12/2018  0.00 24.5002/18/2018  0.00  8.00  8.00  8.50  0.00  0.00 0.00

02/19/2018  0.00 27.2502/25/2018  0.00  0.00  8.50  5.75  13.00  0.00 0.00

02/26/2018  0.00 3.0803/04/2018  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 3.08

Regular Hours    at              11,368.14 386.54Armed CPO-REGULAR  29.41

Baughman,John B

02/26/2018  0.00 1.3303/04/2018  0.00  1.33  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 0.00

Culton,Chadwick D

02/19/2018  0.00 1.5002/25/2018  0.00  1.50  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 0.00

Falk,Darin H

02/19/2018  0.00 1.5002/25/2018  0.00  0.00  1.50  0.00  0.00  0.00 0.00

Troncoso,Daniel L

02/26/2018  0.00 1.0003/04/2018  1.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00 0.00

Regular Hours    at              156.76 5.33Armed CPO-TRAINING  29.41

Page 1 of 2EMAIL / GRDJUNCTI2

PI-5084182;CONS-000000;BU-00001;DEPT-DEN;CUST-134423;ADR-1;PROJECT-0123606;INV#-8701610;SORT-2,197;SEQ-1
"Chance Ballegeer" <cballegeer@gjairport.com>



2828 Walker Field Dr Ste 301

Grand Junction CO 81506-8667

Services Rendered for:  02/01/2018  through  02/28/2018

Service 

Location:

Grand Junction CO 81506-8667

INVOICE

Bill To:

2828 Walker Field Dr Ste 301

Please include the invoice number

with your payment and remit to:

        PO Box 277469
        Atlanta GA 30384-7469 
       

Have billing questions? Email us:

Purchase orders:  poinfo@usa.g4s.com
Other inquiries:  billinghelp@usa.g4s.com

Website:       www.g4s.us 

Contact Us:    (303) 341-4433

Invoice No:         8701610

Amount Due:         $11,524.90  

Invoice Date:       02/28/2018  

Terms:              Payment Due 30 Days

Due Date:           03/30/2018

Customer No:        134423

PO Number:          

G4S Secure Solutions (USA) Inc.
1395 University Blvd | Jupiter FL 33458

Federal ID:   590857245

Chance Ballegeer

Grand Junction Regional Airport Authorit

Week Begin Week End Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday  Friday Saturday

 

 Sunday  Qty 
Amount  Total Other                  

  Hours  ($)  

 391.87  11,524.90Subtotal

 11,524.90Invoice Total

Page 2 of 2EMAIL / GRDJUNCTI2

PI-5084182;CONS-000000;BU-00001;DEPT-DEN;CUST-134423;ADR-1;PROJECT-0123606;INV#-8701610;SORT-2,197;SEQ-2
"Chance Ballegeer" <cballegeer@gjairport.com>



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  Goodwin Services, INC Invoice #75245 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION:  Staff recommends the Board authorize the payment of Goodwin 
Services, INC for the amount of $10,240.00 

LAST ACTION: None. 

DISCUSSION: This invoice is the annual fee for disposing of our Glycol Storage 
Tank.  This fee recovered from the airlines.  
 
The invoice exceeds $10,000, therefore requiring Board approval. 
 
Staff has verified the amount and the scope of work has been 
completed. 

FISCAL IMPACT: $10,240.00 

COMMUNICATION    
STRATEGY: 

N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: Goodwin Services, INC Invoice #75245 

STAFF CONTACT: Mark Papko 
Email: mpapko@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8596 
 

 
 
 





Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  DKMG invoice 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Board approve DKMG invoice 106 in the 
amount of $12,225 

DISCUSSION: In October 2017 the board engaged DKMG for airline lease 
consulting services.  The attached invoice is within the scope of 
work and part of the compensation structure that was agreed to in 
the contract. 

FISCAL IMPACT: $12,225 

ATTACHMENTS: Invoice 106 

STAFF CONTACT: Ty Minnick 
tminnick@gjairport.com 
970-248-8593 
 

 
 
 
  

 





Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Taxiway A Rehabilitation (Design and Bidding)-Garver Invoice 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board approval of Garver Invoice No. 17081934-3 
 

LAST ACTION: GJRAA Board approved the Work Order at the December 2017 
Regular Meeting. 

DISCUSSION: The invoice includes work by Garver on the Taxiway A Rehab project 
design through January 26 as a progress billing. Work included efforts 
on the Engineering Design Report. 
 
Work completed this phase includes Surveying Services and 
completion of a portion of Geotechnical Service, Design Report, and 
Final Design. 
 
Staff has reviewed the invoice and concurs with the stated level of 
completion and recommends paying the invoice.  

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

$45,491.89 FAA 
$5,054.66 GJRA-Budgeted Dollars 
$50,546.55 Total 

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: Garver Invoice No. 17081934-3 

STAFF CONTACT: Eric Trinklein 
etrinklein@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8597 

 



















Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Pay Request-Passenger Boarding Bridge  

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board approve payment of Mead & Hunt Invoice No. 276691. 
 

LAST ACTION: Board executed design contract 7/18/17. 

DISCUSSION: This invoice is the progress billing for the design of the Passenger 
Boarding Bridge Installation located at Gate 1. 
 
Work completed this phase includes project management and 
completion of a portion of the construction document phase. 
Schematic design work has been completed and completion of a 
portion of permit and bid. 
 
Staff has reviewed the invoice and concurs with the stated level of 
completion and recommends paying the invoice.  
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

$11,134.44 – Budgeted dollars 
 

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

None. 

ATTACHMENTS: Mead & Hunt Invoice No. 276691 
 

STAFFCONTACT: Eric Trinklein 
etrinklein@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8597 

 

 

mailto:etrinklein@gjairport.com






Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Pay Request-Terminal Building Renovations  

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Board approve payment of Mead & Hunt Invoice No. 276790. 
 

LAST ACTION: Board executed design contract 8/18/17. 

DISCUSSION: This invoice is the progress billing for the terminal building 
renovations for work completed through December 31. 
 
Work completed under this invoice includes completion of the 
Conceptual Design. Completion of a portion of Project Management 
and Schematic Design, as well as Design Development and 
Construction Documents are in the early stages of completion.  
 
Staff has reviewed the invoice and concurs with the stated level of 
completion and recommends paying the invoice.  
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

$39,492.42 – Budgeted dollars 
 

COMMUNICATION 
STRATEGY: 

None. 

ATTACHMENTS: Mead & Hunt Invoice No. 276790 

STAFFCONTACT: Eric Trinklein 
etrinklein@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8597 

 

 

mailto:etrinklein@gjairport.com






Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: Junction Aero Tech tri-party agreement 
 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the board approve the following: 
1. Amended memorandum of ground lease agreements, 
2. Amendment to Tri-Party Agreement, and 
3. Ground Sublease between Junction Aero Tech and West Star  

DISCUSSION: On April 1, 2016, GJRAA and Junction Aero Tech entered into one 
new ground lease captioned Aeronautical Use Ground Lease  that 
replaced all three (3) of the Ground Lease Agreements  and on 
September 21, 2017, GJRAA and Junction Aero Tech entered into a 
First Amendment to said such new ground lease ( all collectively, the 
“Replacement Ground Lease”).   
 
Junction Aero Tech has requested that Alpine accept the Replacement 
Ground Lease in lieu of the Original Ground Leases as collateral to 
secure repayment of the Loan. Such a substitution of collateral will 
require an amendment to the Tri-Party Agreement. The consent of 
GJRAA is required in order for such an amendment to be effective. 
 
The expiration of the term of the Replacement Ground Lease is 
August 15, 2024.  The Replacement Ground Lease contains one ten-
year renewal option ending on August 15, 2034, and five additional 
four-year renewal options thereafter, 
 
Airport Authority general counsel has reviewed without exception. 
See attached documents for complete agreement details. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: 1. Amended memorandum of ground lease agreements, 
2. Amendment to Tri-Party Agreement, and 
3. Ground Sublease between Junction Aero Tech and West Star 

 
STAFF CONTACT: Ty Minnick 

tminnick@gjairport.com 
970-248-8593 

 

  



 
ALPINE BANK 

 
AMENDED MEMORANDUM OF GROUND LEASE AGREEMENTS  

 
          THIS AMENDED MEMORANDUM OF GROUND LEASE AGREEMENTS (“Amendment”) is 
between Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority, a body corporate and politic and constituting a subdivision 
of the State of Colorado, formerly known as Walker Field, Colorado, Public Airport Authority (“GJRAA”) and 
Junction AeroTech, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Tenant”). GJRAA and Tenant may 
collectively be referred to herein as the (“Parties”).  
 

1. Amendment. This is an amendment to the Memorandum of Ground Lease Agreements (the 
“Memorandum”) between the Parties recorded October 14, 2015, in Book 5783 at Page 299 (Reception 
No. 2740283) of the Public Records of Mesa County, Colorado.  The Memorandum is amended to 
substitute in all places the term Replacement Ground Lease (defined below) in place of the term Ground 
Lease Agreements (also defined below).  
 

2. Aeronautical Use Ground Lease.  
 

a. Original Ground Leases. GJRAA and Tenant’s predecessor in interest P&L Properties, LLC 
entered into three (3) Ground Lease Agreements which are more fully described in the 
Memorandum (“Ground Lease Agreements”). 
  

b. Replacement Ground Lease. On April 1, 2016, GJRAA and Tenant entered into one new ground 
lease captioned Aeronautical Use Ground Lease  that replaced all three (3) of the Ground Lease 
Agreements  and on September 21, 2017, GJRAA and Tenant entered into a First Amendment 
to said such new ground lease ( all collectively, the “Replacement Ground Lease”).  

 
c. Commencement Dates. The commencement dates in the Replacement Ground Lease are 

12/31/2004 as to Tract 1; 9/1/2005 as to Tract 2 and 8/15/2008 as to Tract 3.  
 

d. Description of Real Estate. The real estate subject to the Replacement Ground Lease is the same 
as described in Exhibit “A’ to the Memorandum. 

 
e. Expiration of Term. The expiration of the term of the Replacement Ground Lease is August 15, 

2024.  The Replacement Ground Lease contains one ten-year renewal option ending on August 
15, 2034, and five additional four-year renewal options thereafter.  

 
3. Incorporation. The terms and conditions of the Replacement Ground Lease are incorporated herein by 

the reference.  

RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 
WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 
 
Aaron Miller, President 
Alpine Bank- Grand Junction 
225 North 5th Street 
Grand Junction, CO 81501 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE IS FOR RECORDER’S USE 
ONLY 



 
4. Notice to Third Parties. The Amendment is executed for the purpose of giving record notice of the 

Replacement Ground Lease.  
 

5. Amendment Controls. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between this Amendment and 
the Memorandum, this Amendment shall govern and control.  
 

EXECUTED by the Parties this ___day of _____________, 2018 
 

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 
AUTHORITY, 
a body corporate and politic and constituting a 
subdivision of the State of Colorado 
 
By:____________________________ 
Rick Taggart, Chairman of the Board 
 

STATE OF ______________ ) 
)ss. 

COUNTY OF ____________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of ____________, 2018 by Rick 

Taggart whose title is Chairman of the Board of Grand Junction Reginal Airport Authority, a body corporate and 
politic and constituting a subdivision of the State of Colorado.  

 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
My commission expires: 
 

_________________________________ 
              Notary Public  

  



JUNCTION AEROTECH,LLC 
a Delaware limited liability company  
By: FDSL, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company, its Managing Member 
 
By:____________________________ 
David Stade, Manager  

STATE OF ______________ ) 
)ss. 

COUNTY OF ____________ ) 
 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this ____ day of ____________, 2017 by David 

Stade, as Manager of FDSL, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, Managing Member of Junction 
AeroTech, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.  

 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
My commission expires: 
 

_________________________________ 
              Notary Public 
 
 

  
 
 
  



 

ALPINE BANK 

AMENDMENT TO TRI-PARTY AGREEMENT 
(GJRAA, Junction AeroTech and Alpine Bank) 

 
 This Amendment to Tri-Party Agreement (“Amendment”) dated effective _______________, 
2018 is made by and between Alpine Bank, a Colorado banking corporation (“Alpine”), whose address is 
225 North 5th Street, Grand Junction, CO 81501; Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority, a body 
corporate and politic and constituting a subdivision of the State of Colorado (“GJRAA”), whose address is 
800 Eagle Drive, Grand Junction, CO 81506 and Junction AeroTech, LLC a Delaware limited liability 
company (“Borrower”), whose address is 1001 North 19th Street, Suite 930, Arlington, VA 22209. Alpine, 
GJRAA and Borrower are each sometimes referred to herein as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties”.  
 

RECITALS  
 

A. P&L Properties, LLC (“P&L”) did, with the consent of GJRAA, sell (the “Sale”) to Borrower, 
three (3) ground leases between GJRAA, as lessor, and P&L, as lessee, (the “Original Ground Leases”). 
 

B. The Original Ground Leases are more particularly described in that certain Memorandum of 
Ground Lease Agreements recorded October 14, 2015, in Book 5783 at Page 299 (Reception No. 2740283) 
of the public records of Mesa County, Colorado (the “Memorandum”).  
 

C. In order to finance the Sale of the Ground Leases to Borrower, Alpine did make a loan to Borrower 
in the original principal sum of Fifteen Million and Fifty Thousand and NO/100 Dollars ($15,050,000.00) 
(the “Loan”). The Loan matures April 1, 2035. 
 

D. As a condition of the Loan, the Parties did enter into a Tri-Party Agreement (the “Tri-Party 
Agreement”) recorded April 8, 2015, in Book 5709 at Page 572 (Reception No. 2720038) in the public 
records of Mesa County, Colorado.  

 

E. Unless the context otherwise requires, defined terms used herein shall have the same meaning as 
used in the Tri-Party Agreement.  
 

F. Repayment of the Loan is secured by that certain Leasehold Deed of Trust, Security Agreement, 
Financing Statement and Assignment of Rents, Revenues, and Leases dated April 6, 2015, and recorded 

_RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 
WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO: 
 

Aaron Miller, President 
Alpine Bank- Grand Junction 
225 North 5th Street 
Grand Junction, CO 81501 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE IS FOR RECORDER’S 
USE ONLY 



April 8, 2015, as Reception No. 2719957 in Book 5704 at Page 248 in the Public Records of Mesa County, 
Colorado; First Modification recorded October 14, 2015, as Reception No. 2740308 in Book 5783 at Page 
410 and Second Modification recorded _________________, 2018 as Reception No._________ in Book 
_____ at Page____ all in the public records of Mesa County, Colorado (all collectively the “Deed of 
Trust”). 

 
G. GJRAA and Borrower have entered into one new Aeronautical Use Ground Lease dated April 1, 

2016, as amended by that First Amendment to Aeronautical Use Ground Lease dated September 21, 2017 
(collectively, the “Replacement Ground Lease”), which is intended to replace all the Original Ground 
Leases.  

 
H. Record notice of the Replacement Ground Lease is given pursuant to the Amended Memorandum 

of Ground Lease Agreements (the “Amended Memorandum”), and recorded ________________, 2018, 
in Book ____at Page ____ (Reception No._________) in the public records of Mesa County, Colorado.  
 

I. Borrower has requested that Alpine accept the Replacement Ground Lease in lieu of the Original 
Ground Leases as collateral to secure repayment of the Loan. Such a substitution of collateral will require 
an amendment to the Tri-Party Agreement as more fully set forth below. The consent of GJRAA is required 
in order for such an amendment to be effective.  

 
W I T N E S S E T H 

 
For Good And Valuable Considerations, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 

acknowledged and confessed, the Parties intending to be lawfully bound agree as follows: 
 
1. Recitals Correct.  The Recitals set forth above are true and correct and shall constitute an integral 

part of this Agreement.  
 

2. Amendment. The Tri-Party Agreement is amended as follows:  
 

2.1 Replacement Ground Lease. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth below, Alpine hereby 
agrees to accept the Replacement Ground Lease in lieu of the Original Ground Leases as collateral 
to secure repayment of the Loan. In all places in the Tri-Party Agreement the term “Ground Leases” 
is deleted and replaced with the term “Replacement Ground Lease.” 

2.2 Term of Replacement Ground Lease. The term of the Replacement Ground Lease commenced 
as follows: Tract 1 1/31/2004; Tract 2 9/1/2005 and Tract 3 8/15/2008 and expires 8/15/2024.  
Notwithstanding the above or anything in the Replacement Ground Lease to the contrary, solely 
for purposes of determining the CPI-U adjustment set forth in Section 4.2 of the Replacement 
Ground Lease, GJRAA and Borrower agree that the Commencement Date shall be September 21, 
2017, and as such, the first adjustment pursuant to Section 4.2 of the Replacement Ground Lease 
shall take place on April 1, 2018.  

2.3 First Option to Renew. The first option to renew the Replacement Ground Lease is for ten (10) 
years or until 8/15/2034. The Loan matures April 1, 2035.  Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary in the Replacement Ground Lease, GJRAA and Borrower acknowledge and agree that this 
Amendment constitutes Borrower’s notice to exercise the first option to renew the term of the 
Replacement Ground Lease pursuant to Section 3.2 thereof. Provided that the Loan has not been 
prepaid in full prior to 8/15/2024 and provided further that at such time there shall exist no material 



default beyond the applicable cure periods provided in the Replacement Ground Lease or the Tri-
Party Agreement as amended herein, GJRAA and Borrower agree that the term of the Replacement 
Ground Lease shall automatically (and without any further notice or other requirement on the part 
of Borrower) be extended until 8/15/2034. The Parties acknowledge that this paragraph 2.3 is for 
the benefit of Lender with respect to the Loan. The Parties further acknowledge that in the course 
of the administration of this Loan, Lender may determine that it is not in the interest of Lender or 
Borrower that the Replacement Ground Lease be automatically extended. Accordingly, the Parties 
agree that prior to August 15, 2023, Lender may, in its sole discretion, upon written notice to 
GJRAA and Borrower waive the forgoing requirement that the first option to renew be 
automatically extended. Following such notice the Replacement Ground Lease shall be interpreted 
and enforced without regard to this paragraph 2.3.  

3. Estoppel.  The Parties agree and confirm that the Tri-Party Agreement as amended herein is in full 
force and effect. No Party hereto is aware of any default under the Tri-Party Agreement on the part of any 
other Party hereto. Each of GJRAA and Borrower, as applicable, confirm to Alpine and each other as 
follows:  
 

3.1  Current monthly rental payable by Borrower under the Replacement Ground Lease is 
$17,597.88.  Effective as of April 1, 2018, the monthly rental payable by Borrower under 
the Replacement Ground Lease will be $18,226.73. 

3.2 As of the date hereof, there has been no advance payment of rent under the Replacement 
Ground Lease for more than thirty (30) days. 

 
3.3 The security deposit held by the GJRAA under the Replacement Ground Leases is 

$69,222.85.  
 
3.4 As of the date hereof, there are no unexpired offsets or credits against rentals payable under 

the Replacement Ground Lease, and no concessions, allowances, or amounts of free rent 
owed to Borrower. 

 
3.5 As of the date hereof, (i) neither Borrower nor GJRAA have sent or received any notices 

of default under the Replacement Ground Lease, and, to each of Borrower’s and GJRAA’s 
knowledge, there are no defaults under the Replacement Ground Lease by either GJRAA 
or Borrower, nor are there any conditions or events existing which, with or without notice 
or lapse of time, or both, could constitute a default or event of default under the 
Replacement Ground Lease, and (ii) Borrower has no charge, lien, claim, or offset under 
the Replacement Ground Lease against GJRAA or the rent payable thereunder. No notice 
to terminate the Replacement Ground Lease has been given by Borrower or GJRAA. 

 
3.6 All conditions of the Replacement Ground Lease to be performed by Borrower  under the 

terms of the Replacement Ground Lease have been performed as of the date hereof. 
 
3.7 No bankruptcy proceedings, whether voluntary or otherwise, are pending against 

Borrower (or its members). 
 

3.8 Prior to the date hereof, Borrower has been paying rent to GJRAA pursuant to the 
Original Ground Leases and otherwise complying with the terms and conditions set forth 



in the Original Ground Leases.  As such, any act or failure to act by Borrower prior to the 
date hereof shall in no way constitute a default under or breach of the Replacement 
Ground Lease so long as such act or failure to act would not constitute a default under or 
breach of the Original Ground Leases.  
 

4. Notices. Under Paragraph 5 the copy of notice to Fitzgerald & Rhodes, LLP is deleted and replaced 
with:  
 

FD Stonewater, LLC 
1001 19th Street, Suite 930 
Arlington, VA 22209 
Attn: General Counsel 
Email: perickson@fdstonewater.com 

5. Further Assurances.  The Parties agree that from time to time, upon request of any other Party, they 
will promptly execute and deliver all further instruments, documents and agreements, and take all further 
actions that may be reasonably necessary or desirable, or which such Party may reasonably request, in order 
to carry out the intent and purposes of this Amendment including but not limited to in the case of Alpine to 
perfect and protect any lien, assignment or security interest granted or purported to be granted by the terms 
of the Deed of Trust or to enable Alpine to exercise and enforce its rights and remedies thereunder or 
hereunder. 

 
6. Costs.  Borrower agrees to pay, upon request, all reasonable attorney’s fees, search, update, 

endorsement, or any other title premiums, recording or filling fees and any costs or expenses incurred by 
Alpine in the negotiation, preparation, closing or perfection of this Amendment or any documents made or 
given in connection herewith. 

 
7. Entire Agreement.  This Amendment embodies the entire agreement of the Parties with regard to 

the subject matter hereof.  There are no representations, promises, warranties, understandings or agreements 
expressed or implied, oral or otherwise, in relation thereto, except those expressly referred to in the Tri-
Party Agreement as amended herein.  
 

8. Amendment Controls. In the event of any conflict or inconsistency between this Amendment and 
the Tri-Party Agreement, this Amendment shall govern and control unless Alpine in its sole but reasonable 
commercial discretion shall determine otherwise.  

 
9. Counterparts. This Amendment may be may be executed in counterparts and said counterparts 

together shall be binding on the Parties hereto as though all Parties had executed the same counterpart.  
 

10. Binding Effect.  This Amendment shall be binding upon the Parties hereto, their heirs, successors, 
personal representatives and assigns. 
 

[Signatures on following page] 

  



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment to the Tri-Party Agreement as 
of the effective date set forth above. 

 
ALPINE: 
 
Alpine Bank, a Colorado banking corporation 
   
      
By:________________________________ 
Aaron Miller, President 

BORROWER:  
 
Junction AeroTech, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company 
By: FDSL, LLC, a Delaware limited liability 
company, Managing Member of Junction 
AeroTech, LLC 
  
By: _________________________________ 
David Stade, Manager 

 GJRAA: 

Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority, a body 
corporate and politic and constituting a subdivision 
of the State of Colorado 

By: _________________________________ 
Rick  Taggart, Chairman of the Board 
 

[NOTARY BLOCKS ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 
 
 
 



STATE OF ______________ ) 
)ss. 

COUNTY OF ____________ ) 
 
The foregoing Amendment to Tri-Party Agreement was acknowledged before me this ____ day of 

____________, 2018 by Aaron Miller, President of Alpine Bank, Grand Junction, a Colorado banking 
corporation.     

 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
My commission expires: 
 

_________________________________ 
              Notary Public 
 

STATE OF ______________ ) 
)ss. 

COUNTY OF ____________ ) 
 
The foregoing Amendment to Tri-Party Agreement was acknowledged before me this ____ day of 

____________, 2018 by Rick Taggart, whose title is Chairman of the Board on behalf of Grand Junction 
Regional Airport Authority, a body corporate and politic and constituting a subdivision of the State of 
Colorado. 

 
 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
My commission expires: 
 

_________________________________ 
              Notary Public 
 

STATE OF ______________ ) 
)ss. 

COUNTY OF ____________ ) 
 
The foregoing Amendment to Tri-Party Agreement was acknowledged before me this ____ day of 

____________, 2018 by David Stade whose title is Manager on behalf of FDSL, LLC, a Delaware limited 
liability company as Managing Member of Junction AeroTech, LLC a Delaware limited liability company.     

 
WITNESS my hand and official seal. 
 
My commission expires: 
 

_________________________________ 
              Notary Public 

 

 

 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017) 

GROUND SUBLEASE 
 

BETWEEN 
 
 

JUNCTION AEROTECH, LLC 
 

AND 
 

WEST STAR AVIATION, LLC 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 1 
 

 TABLE OF CONTENTS 
  
Article 1:  Basic Lease Information ....................................................................................... 2 

1.1  DATE ...................................................................................................................... 2 
1.2  TENANT................................................................................................................. 2 
1.3  TENANT'S TRADE NAME .................................................................................. 2 
1.4   TENANT'S ADDRESS AND PHONE ................................................................. 2 
1.5   SUBTENANT ........................................................................................................ 2 
1.6  SUBTENANT'S TRADE NAME ........................................................................... 2 
1.7  SUBTENANT'S ADDRESS AND PHONE ........................................................... 2 
1.8  GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY ADDRESS AND 

PHONE ................................................................................................................... 3 
1.9  AIRPORT ............................................................................................................... 3 
1.10  COMMENCEMENT DATE .................................................................................. 3 
1.11  COMMENCEMENT DATE .................................................................................. 3 
1.12  EXPIRATION DATE ............................................................................................. 3 
1.13  INITIAL MINIMUM INSURANCE COVERAGE AMOUNT............................. 3 
1.14  RENT ...................................................................................................................... 3 
1.15   PERMITTED USES .............................................................................................. 4 
1.16  PREMISES ............................................................................................................. 4 
1.17  PREMISES SQUARE FOOTAGE ......................................................................... 4 
1.18  MAINTENANCE AND UTILITIES ...................................................................... 4 
1.19  SECURITY DEPOSIT............................................................................................ 4 

Article 2:  Lease Agreement and Term ................................................................................. 5 
Article 3:  Rent, Security Deposit & Other Fees .................................................................. 6 
Article 4:  Improvements ........................................................................................................ 7 
Article 5:  Maintenance and Utilities..................................................................................... 8 
Article 6:  Taxes and Assessments ......................................................................................... 9 
Article 7:  Insurance ............................................................................................................... 9 
Article 8:  Assignment and Subleasing ................................................................................ 10 
Article 9:  Compliance with Applicable Law; Environmental Covenants ...................... 10 
Article 10:  Nondiscrimination............................................................................................... 12 
Article 11:  Indemnity of Primary Tenant and WFAA ....................................................... 14 
Article 12:  Eminent Domain ................................................................................................. 14 
Article 13:  Substitution of Premises ..................................................................................... 15 
Article 14:  Airport Development Rights; Emergency Use of Premises ............................ 16 
Article 15:  Cooperation with Primary Tenant in Collecting Fees ..................................... 17 
Article 16:  Signs ..................................................................................................................... 17 
Article 17:  Damage to Airport; Waste ................................................................................. 18 
Article 18:  Quiet Enjoyment ................................................................................................. 18 
Article 19:  Surrender Upon Termination; Holding Over .................................................. 18 
Article 20:  Default and Remedies ......................................................................................... 19 
Article 21:  Representations Regarding Legalities ............................................................... 21 
EXHIBIT A  Description of the Premises .............................................................................. 27 
EXHIBIT B  Survey Including Common and Particular Description of the Premises ..... 28 
EXHIBIT C  Lease ................................................................................................................... 29 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 2 
 

EXHIBIT D  Rent Schedule .................................................................................................... 30 
 
 
 Airport Sublease Agreement 
 

This Airport Sublease Agreement (the "Sublease") is made and entered into on the date set 
forth in Paragraph 1.1, below, by and between the Tenant and Subtenant, as those terms are defined 
below. 
 
Article 1: Basic Sublease Information 
 

In addition to the terms which are defined elsewhere in this Sublease, the following defined 
terms are used in this Sublease: 
 

1.1 DATE:    
 

1.2 TENANT: Junction Aerotech, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
 

1.3 TENANT'S TRADE NAME: Not Applicable 
 

1.4 TENANT'S ADDRESS AND PHONE: 
 
1001 19th Street North, Suite 930 
Arlington, VA 22209 
Attention: David Alperstein 
 
With copy to:  
FD Stonewater, LLC 
116061 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 2460 
Los Angeles, CA 90025  
Attention: General Counsel 

 
PHONE: 703-537-7650  
 

1.5 SUBTENANT:  West Star Aviation, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company 
 

1.6 SUBTENANT'S TRADE NAME:  Not Applicable 
 

1.7 SUBTENANT'S ADDRESS AND PHONE: 
 

796 Heritage Way 
Grand Junction, CO 81506 
 
PHONE: 970-243-7500 
 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 3 
 

1.8 GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY ADDRESS AND 
PHONE:  
 
800 Eagle  Drive 
Grand Junction, CO  81506 
(970)244-9100 

 
1.9 AIRPORT:  

The Grand Junction Regional Airport, which is located in Grand Junction, 
Colorado. Several attached Exhibits to the Lease may reference the Walker Field, 
Colorado, Public Airport Authority and/or the Walker Field, Colorado, Public 
Airport.   However, on May 15, 2007, the Board of Commissioners changed the 
name of the Airport’s governing authority from the Walker Field, Colorado, Public 
Airport Authority (“WFAA”) to the Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 
(“GJRAA”), and the name of the Airport from Walker Field to the Grand Junction 
Regional Airport. 
 

1.10 COMMENCEMENT DATE OF SUBLEASE: January 1, 2005 
 
1.11 LEASE: 

The Aeronautical Use Ground Lease between GJRAA and Tenant (“Lease”), dated 
April 1, 2016, as amended by that First Amendment to Aeronautical Use Ground 
dated September 21, 2017, which is attached to this Sublease as Exhibit C, and 
which is fully incorporated herein by reference. 

 
1.12 EXPIRATION DATE OF SUBLEASE: 

August 15, 2034; provided, however, subject to the provisions of Section 2.3 
hereof, the Expiration Date shall be extended to the end of any extension Term that 
may be exercised by Subtenant in accordance with the terms and conditions of this 
Sublease.  The term may be extended, at Subtenant’s option, for up to five (5) 
successive periods of four (4) years each (the "Additional Extensions").  Subtenant 
shall give notice to Tenant of the exercise of its option for each Additional 
Extension not less than twelve (12) months prior to the Expiration Date then in 
effect, otherwise this Sublease shall terminate as of the then current Expiration 
Date.   
 

1.13 INITIAL MINIMUM INSURANCE COVERAGE AMOUNT: $20,000,000 
combined single limit general liability 

 
1.14 RENT:  

Monthly Rent payments are set forth on Exhibit D, Rent Schedule, which is 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  
 
Rent payments shall be due and payable in advance on the first day of each month 
during the term and any extensions thereof. Subtenant acknowledges that late 
payment of Rent or other amounts due under this Sublease will cause Tenant to 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 4 
 

incur costs not contemplated by this Sublease, the exact amount being extremely 
difficult and impractical to fix. In addition to any other remedies of Tenant under 
this Sublease or in law or equity, Subtenant shall pay a late fee of five percent (5%) 
of any rental payment not paid in full on or before the tenth (10th) day of the month 
in which it is due. The parties agree that this late charge represents a fair and 
reasonable estimate of the cost Tenant will incur by reason of Subtenant's late 
payment. Subtenant shall pay interest at the rate of ten percent (10%) per annum on 
any amounts owed by Subtenant to Tenant under this Sublease that are not paid 
within 30 days of the date due. Any payments received shall first be applied to late 
charges, if any, then to accrued interest, if any, and then to reduction of principal 
amount owed. 
 
Subtenant shall pay as supplemental rent all rent, fees and all other charges payable 
by Tenant to GJRAA as such become due under the terms and conditions of the 
Lease between Tenant and GJRAA. 

 
 

1.15 PERMITTED USES:  The following activities shall be considered "Permitted 
Uses" under this Sublease:  The aircraft hangar buildings, the paint hangars and/or 
commercial buildings constructed on the Premises and the leasehold interest 
created hereby are to be used for commercial aeronautical services and activities 
set forth in the GJRAA's approved minimum standards for a Fixed Base Operator 
and for Maintenance, Repair & Overhaul services, as the same may be amended 
from time to time at the sole discretion of GJRAA. 
 

1.16 PREMISES:  The Premises shown on the attached Exhibit A and Exhibit B to this 
Sublease and any improvements thereon.  
 

1.17 PREMISES SQUARE FOOTAGE: The Premises consist of a total of 1,334,477 
square feet.  Notwithstanding any other provision of this Sublease to the contrary, 
Subtenant shall have no ownership of any leasehold improvements, including 
hangars. 

 
1.18 MAINTENANCE AND UTILITIES: Subtenant shall timely pay all charges for 

utilities, including, but not limited to, gas, electricity, water, sewer, telephone and 
trash removal incurred on the Premises.  

 
1.19 SECURITY DEPOSIT:None. 
 

  



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 5 
 

Article 2: Sublease and Term 
 

2.1 In consideration of the payment of the rent and the keeping and performance of the 
covenants, promises, and agreements by Subtenant set forth herein, Tenant does hereby sublease 
unto Subtenant the Premises, including any and all rights, privileges, easements, and 
appurtenances now or hereafter belonging to the Premises, subject, however, to all liens, 
easements, restrictions, and other encumbrances of record.  Subtenant shall be subleasing the 
Premises in an "as is" and “with all faults” condition and without any warranties or representations, 
expressed or implied, from either Tenant or GJRAA that the Premises, or any portions thereof, are 
suitable for a particular purpose, or can accommodate any particular weight or size of aircraft.  
 

2.2 Subtenant is also granted Tenant’s non-exclusive right under the Lease to utilize 
such Airport runways, taxiways, taxi lanes, and public use aprons ("airfield areas"), and such other 
rights of way and access across the Airport ("Airport rights of way") as necessary for ingress and 
egress to the Premises, and to the extent necessary to enable Subtenant to provide the Permitted 
Uses from the Premises.  Subtenant's use of said airfield areas and other Airport rights of way shall 
be on a non-exclusive, non-preferential basis with other authorized users thereof.  Subtenant agrees 
to abide by all directives of Tenant, GJRAA, the Federal Aviation Administration ("FAA"), and 
any other governmental entity having jurisdiction over the Airport, governing Subtenant's use of 
said airfield areas and other Airport rights of way, either alone or in conjunction with other 
authorized users thereof. 
 

2.3 Unless sooner terminated by agreement of Tenant and Subtenant, or under other 
provisions of the Lease or this Sublease, this Sublease shall terminate on the later of the Expiration 
Date identified above or extended Expiration Date if the term of this Sublease is extended by 
Subtenant as permitted in Section 1.12 hereof.  If, at any time, the Expiration Date, as the same 
may be extended by Subtenant, is later than the then expiration date of the Lease, Tenant agrees to 
timely exercise the extension option(s) under the Lease necessary in order that the term of the 
Lease does not expire prior to the Expiration Date, as the same may be extended by Subtenant.  
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Sublease to the contrary, in the event the GJRAA 
elects not to offer Tenant any additional option pursuant to Section 3.3 of the Lease, then the 
Expiration Date shall not, in any event, extend beyond the latest date to which Tenant may extend 
the term of the Lease.  Further, in the event the GJRAA provides written notice to Tenant that an 
additional option pursuant to Section 3.3 of the Lease is not available or will not be offered to 
Tenant, Tenant shall promptly provide Subtenant with written notice of the same.   

 
2.4 Subject to the other provisions of this Sublease, Tenant hereby grants Subtenant the 

exclusive right to use the Premises, and all of the improvements thereon (if any), to conduct, on a 
non-exclusive basis at the Airport, the Permitted Uses. 
 

2.5 Tenant and GJRAA may, at any time, inspect the Premises, and/or any 
improvements, fixtures or equipment thereon.  Subtenant shall cooperate with any such inspection. 
 
  



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 6 
 

Article 3: Rent, Security Deposit & Other Fees 
 

3.1 The ground rent for the Premises is set forth in Article 1, above. 
 

3.2 The following provisions shall apply to the miscellaneous fees applicable to 
Subtenant or relating to the Premises: 
 

3.2.1 Subtenant shall pay the GJRAA such fees as set forth in the GJRAA's Fees and 
Charges, a copy of which is available from the GJRAA, as the same now exists or as it may be 
amended from time to time, for, among other things, the usage of the Airport's disposal station by 
Subtenant, or by Subtenant's authorized assigns and subtenants, if any. 

 
3.2.2 Subtenant shall pay the GJRAA the amount established by the GJRAA from time 

to time for stand-by services provided by the employees of the GJRAA to Subtenant, or to 
Subtenant's assigns and subtenants, including, but not limited to, the following stand-by services: 
Aircraft Rescue & Fire Fighting (ARFF); emergency first aid; custodial, maintenance and security 
services; and special events on Airport property. 
 

3.2.3 Subtenant shall pay the GJRAA’s landing fees for all aircraft owned or leased by 
Subtenant that utilize its hangar or tie-down facilities, in the amount of the landing fees required 
by the GJRAA's Fees and Charges, as said amount may be amended from time to time.   
 

3.2.4 Subtenant shall pay the GJRAA such fuel flow fees for fuel purchased by 
Subtenant, or Subtenant’s assigns or subtenants, from authorized fuel vendors on the Airport, as 
required by the GJRAA's Fees and Charges, as said amount may be amended from time to time. 
Said fuel flow fee is in addition to any gasoline taxes or fuel flow fees Subtenant may be required 
to pay under the State of Colorado's Aviation Fuel Tax Program or otherwise. 
 

3.2.5 Subtenant shall pay the GJRAA for all identification badges required for use by 
Subtenant, or its assigns or subtenants, at a rate established by the GJRAA from time to time.  
Subtenant shall also pay such fees as established by the GJRAA from time to time for the 
replacement of said badges. 
 

3.2.6 Subtenant shall pay the GJRAA such other fees and charges as may be imposed by 
the GJRAA in the future, for services and facilities provided by the GJRAA to Subtenant, or 
Subtenant’s assigns and subtenants, on a pro rata, non-discriminatory basis with the other users of 
said services or facilities. 
 

3.3 Payment of all fees owed to the GJRAA, if any, shall be made in accordance with 
procedures adopted by the GJRAA from time to time. 
 

3.4 All ground rental payments shall be made to Tenant at its address listed in Article 
1 or at such other address as may be specified by Tenant.  All fees due to the GJRAA shall be 
made to the GJRAA at its address listed in Article 1, or at such other address as may be specified 
by the GJRAA. 
 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 7 
 

3.5 Any payment due from Subtenant to the GJRAA which is not received on the due 
date will be subject to a late charge pursuant to the GJRAA Fees and Charges, as amended from 
time to time. 
 

3.6 Any agreed upon security deposit is to be held by Tenant as security and will be for 
all of Subtenant's obligations hereunder.  Any such security deposit shall be made at the time the 
Sublease is signed by the Subtenant. 
 
Article 4: Improvements 
 

4.1 During the term of this Sublease, Subtenant shall have the right to construct, at its 
own expense, improvements, alterations, or additions to the Premises, or to any improvements 
presently located thereon, in furtherance of Subtenant's authorized use of the Premises, provided 
that: 
 

4.1.1 The improvements, alterations, and additions are performed by qualified and 
licensed contractors or subcontractors; and 

 
4.1.2 Prior to the construction of any improvements, alterations or additions to the 

Premises including, but not limited to, new buildings, major exterior changes to any buildings, 
changes in pavement, fences and utility lines, interior renovations that affect the structural integrity 
or office and hangar configuration of any improvements: 

 
4.1.2.1 Subtenant must submit the proposed plans, drawings, and/or specifications to 

GJRAA and Tenant for their review and approval; and 
 
4.1.2.2 The GJRAA determines, in its sole discretion, that the proposed improvements,  

alterations, or additions are consistent with the Airport's master and land use plans, GJRAA's 
Development and Architectural Covenants, and GJRAA's Requirements and Minimum Standards 
for Services and Activities at the Airport ("Minimum Standards"), as the same may be amended 
from time to time. 

 
4.1.3 Tenant must obtain the written approval of Tenant and the GJRAA before it can 

commence any construction of any improvements, alterations or additions to the Premises, as 
described in more detail above.  If Subtenant begins construction of any improvements, alterations 
or additions to the Premises without the written approval of Tenant or the GJRAA, then Tenant 
and the GJRAA will have any and all available remedies and relief to them and against Subtenant, 
including, but not limited to, requiring Tenant to deconstruct and/or remove any unauthorized 
construction of any improvements, alterations, or additions to the Premises.  

 
4.2 Subtenant shall construct all improvements, alterations, and additions to the 

Premises at its own expense.  If Subtenant constructs improvements, alterations, and/or additions, 
the improvements, alterations, and additions shall be constructed at Subtenant's sole initiative and 
behest, and nothing herein shall be construed as an agreement by Tenant or the GJRAA to be 
responsible for paying for them, and neither the Premises, nor Tenant's or the GJRAA's interests 
in said Premises, or any improvements, alterations or additions constructed thereon, shall be 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 8 
 

subjected to a mechanic's lien for any improvements, alterations or additions constructed by 
Subtenant. Tenant and/or the GJRAA may require Subtenant to post a bond, or such other security 
as Tenant and/or the GJRAA deems appropriate, guarantying payment for construction of the 
improvements, alterations or additions involved, as a condition precedent to the commencement 
of construction of the improvements, alterations or additions. Subtenant shall be responsible for 
assuring that all of said improvements, alterations and additions to the Premises are constructed in 
accordance with applicable local, state and federal statutes, regulations, rules, or codes. Subtenant 
shall reimburse Tenant and the GJRAA for all costs and expenses, including surveying and 
attorney's fees, that Tenant or the GJRAA incurs, (a) as a result of the fact that the improvements, 
additions, or alterations do not comply with local, state and federal statutes, regulations, rules, or 
codes, (b) in defending against, settling or satisfying any claim that Tenant or the GJRAA is 
responsible for paying due to the improvements, alterations, and additions to the Premises, or (c) 
in defending against, settling or satisfying any mechanic's lien claims, asserted as a result of non-
payment for improvements, alterations, and additions to the Premises. 

 
4.3 All existing improvements and future alterations and additions to the Premises or 

to improvements located on the Premises, except as provided in the immediately following two  
sentences, shall be Tenant's property and shall remain on the Premises at the end of the term. All 
additional improvements and alterations and additions to the Premises or to the improvements 
located on the Premises which are constructed at the sole cost and expense of Subtenant, which 
construction is commenced on or after the date of this Sublease, shall be the property of Subtenant 
during the  term and any extended term of this Sublease. Upon expiration or earlier termination of 
the term of this Sublease, as the same may be extended, all such improvements, alterations and 
additions shall become the property of Tenant. 
 
Article 5: Maintenance, Utilities, and Use 
 

5.1 During the term of this Sublease, Subtenant shall, at its own expense, maintain and 
keep all portions of the Premises, any improvements, fixtures, and equipment thereon, any utility 
lines thereon or thereunder used by Subtenant or Subtenant’s assigns or subtenants, and any of 
Subtenant's improvements, fixtures, or equipment located elsewhere on the Airport, in good 
operating and physical condition and repair. Subtenant shall repair any utility lines located on or 
under its Premises which are utilized by other third parties (but not by Subtenant or Subtenant’s 
assigns or subtenants), if the damage to said utility lines was caused by Subtenant,  or by 
Subtenant's board members, officers, agents, employees, contractors, subcontractors, assigns, 
subtenants, customers, guests, invitees, or anyone acting under Subtenant's direction and control. 
 

5.2 Subtenant shall not permit any liens (including, but not limited to, liens for utilities) 
to be levied against the Premises and, in the event that any liens are so levied, agrees to indemnify 
Tenant and the GJRAA and hold them harmless for the same. 
 

5.3 During the term of this Sublease, Subtenant shall maintain, at its expense, all 
portions of the Premises, any improvements, fixtures, and equipment thereon, and all of its 
improvements, fixtures, and equipment located elsewhere on the Airport, in a safe and clean 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 9 
 

condition, and to not permit any unsightly accumulation of wreckage, debris, or trash where visible 
to the general public visiting or using the Airport.  The determination of whether any accumulation 
is unsightly will be made in the sole discretion of the GJRAA. 
 

5.4 Subtenant may not store items unrelated to its business at the Airport (including, 
but not limited to, boats, recreational vehicles, motorcycles, campers, and personal motor vehicles) 
on the Premises for more than two (2) weeks without the prior written consent of the GJRAA. 

 
5.5 During the term of this Sublease, Subtenant, or Subtenant’s assigns or subtenants 

may only use the Premises for aviation-related purposes unless otherwise approved of by Tenant, 
the GJRAA, the FAA, and any other applicable local, state, or federal entity or agency.  Further, 
Subtenant will indemnify and hold Tenant and the GJRAA harmless for any penalty, fine, claim, 
demand, cause of action, expense, or charge Tenant or the GJRAA may incur as a result of 
Subtenant’s or Subtenant’s assigns or subtenant’s failure to follow this provision. 
 
Article 6: Taxes and Assessments 
 

Subtenant shall timely pay all real and personal property taxes related to its 
operations hereunder or elsewhere; all local, state and federal income, payroll, aviation fuel and 
other taxes related to its operations hereunder or elsewhere; all sales and other taxes measured by 
or related to its sales and service revenues hereunder or elsewhere; all license fees; and any and all 
other taxes, charges, exactions or levies of any nature, whether general or special, which may at 
any time be imposed by any local, state or federal authorities having jurisdiction over Subtenant, 
or that become a lien upon Subtenant, Tenant, the GJRAA, the Premises, or any improvements 
thereon, by reason of Subtenant's activities under this Sublease or elsewhere. 

  
Article 7: Insurance 
 

7.1 At all times during the term of this Sublease, Subtenant shall maintain automobile, 
general liability, bodily injury and property damage insurance naming Tenant and the GJRAA as 
additional insureds covering all of the services, operations, and activities of Subtenant, and 
Subtenant's assigns or subtenants at the Airport.  The initial amount of coverage provided to Tenant 
and the GJRAA shall be at least the Initial Minimum Insurance Coverage Amount, as that term is 
defined in Article 1, above.  The GJRAA or Tenant may from time to time, in their sole discretion 
(which shall be reasonably exercised), increase the amount of required insurance due hereunder. 
 

7.2 At all times during the term of this Sublease, Subtenant shall maintain such hazard 
insurance as necessary to cover the full replacement cost of each of the improvements Subtenant, 
Subtenant’s assigns or subtenants, the GJRAA, or Tenant own or have constructed upon the 
Premises, and the proceeds of said insurance shall be used to repair or replace the improvements 
involved, as necessary. 
 

7.3 Subtenant and its subcontractors shall maintain worker's compensation insurance 
or a self-insurance plan in accordance with the laws of the State of Colorado for all employees or 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 10 
 

subcontractors' employees who perform any work for Subtenant in connection with the rights 
granted to Subtenant hereunder. 
 

7.4 Subtenant shall provide a certificate of insurance to Tenant and the GJRAA of the 
kinds and amounts of said insurance coverages and shall acquire policies that shall not be subject 
to cancellation without at least thirty (30) days advance written notice to Tenant and the GJRAA. 
Such policies shall provide that they may not be materially changed or altered by the insurer during 
its term without first giving at least ten (10) days written notice to Tenant and the GJRAA. 

 
7.5 The parties hereto hereby release each other from any claims for damage to the 

Premises and any contents thereof and any loss of income, to the extent such damages or loss are 
actually covered by insurance policies maintained by the parties or that would have been covered 
under insurance policies required of the parties under this Sublease. 
 
Article 8: Assignment and Subleasing 
 

8.1 Subtenant shall not assign Subtenant’s interest herein without the written consent 
of Tenant and the GJRAA, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  If an assignment is 
made, Subtenant shall continue to be liable, jointly and severally with the assignee, for the 
fulfillment of all terms and conditions arising under this Sublease subsequent to the assignment, 
unless Tenant and the GJRAA specifically release Subtenant, in writing, for such liability for 
future obligations.  All subsequent assignors and assignees shall be subject to this Sublease as if 
they were the original Subtenant/assignor 
 

8.2 Subtenant may not sublease all or any portion of the Premises, or all or any portion 
of the improvements thereon, without first obtaining written consent of Tenant and the GJRAA 
for the sublease, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.  Any sublease shall be in 
writing in the form ("Form Ground Sublease") required by the GJRAA for all subleases, as the 
same may be amended from time to time, or in a form specifically approved of by the GJRAA.  A 
copy of the Form Ground Sublease is available in the GJRAA's offices.  The existence of any sub-
lease or sub-leases shall not in any way relieve Tenant from its responsibilities as to the entire 
Premises under this Sublease.  Any default by a subtenant of its obligations to the GJRAA under 
the Form Ground Sublease shall constitute a default by Subtenant and Tenant of their obligations 
under this Sublease or the Lease.  Subtenant shall not allow any subtenant to enter onto the 
Premises until the subtenant has signed a sublease. 
 

8.3 Tenant's or the GJRAA's consent to one sublease or assignment shall not be 
construed as consent or waiver of its right to object to any subsequent sublease or assignment.  
Tenant's or the GJRAA's acceptance of rent from any sublessee or assignee shall not be construed 
to be a waiver of the GJRAA's right to void any sublease or assignment. 
 
 
Article 9: Compliance with Applicable Law; Environmental Covenants 
 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 11 
 

9.1 Subtenant shall observe and obey all statutes, rules, regulations, and directives 
promulgated by the GJRAA and other appropriate local, State, and Federal entities having 
jurisdiction over the Airport, including the FAA, Transportation Security Administration (“TSA”) 
and the Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”).  Subtenant further agrees to perform all of its 
operations authorized hereunder in accordance with all of the terms and conditions of the GJRAA's 
Requirements and Minimum Standards for Services and Activities for the Grand Junction Regional 
Airport ("Minimum Standards"), Development and Architectural Covenants ("Architectural 
Standards"), Fees and Charges ("GJRAA's Fees and Charges"), AOA Safety Procedures ("Safety 
Procedures"), Fuel Handling and Storage Procedures ("Fuel Procedures"), and Noise 
Compatibility Procedures ("Noise Procedures"), as the same now exist and as they may be 
amended from time to time.  Copies of each of these documents are available from the GJRAA at 
the GJRAA's office, the address of which is set forth in Article 1, hereof.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing to the contrary, if any inconsistency exists between the terms of this Sublease, and the 
terms of the Minimum Standards, Architectural Standards, the GJRAA's Fees and Charges, Safety 
Procedures, Fuel Procedures, and/or Noise Procedures, the terms of this Sublease shall control.  
Subtenant further agrees to comply with all oral and written directives of the GJRAA regarding 
Subtenant's use of the Premises, the Airport's airfield areas, and other common areas elsewhere on 
the Airport. 
 

9.2 Should Subtenant, or Subtenant's board members, officers, agents, employees, 
customers, guests, invitees, subtenants, assigns, contractors, or subcontractors violate any local, 
State, or Federal law, rule, or regulation applicable to the Airport, and should said violation result 
in a damage award, citation, or fine against Tenant and/or the GJRAA, then Subtenant shall fully 
reimburse Tenant and/or the GJRAA for said damage award, citation, or fine and for all costs and 
expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees, incurred by Tenant or the GJRAA in defending 
against or satisfying the award, citation or fine. 
 

9.3 This Sublease shall also be subject and subordinate to the requirements of any 
existing or future contracts or agreements between the GJRAA and Federal, State, or local 
governments, or any agencies thereof, and to the requirements of any Federal, State, or local 
statutes, regulations, or directives governing the operation of the Airport, and the GJRAA shall not 
owe any damages to Subtenant, such as lost profits or revenues, as a result of its compliance with 
said contracts, statutes, rules, or directives.  The GJRAA shall also be excused from its obligations 
to pay Subtenant eminent domain compensation under Article 12, below, or to provide substitute 
leasehold premises pursuant to Article 13, below, unless the payment of said proceeds or provision 
of substitute premises is specifically directed by the contract, statute, regulation or directive 
involved. 
 

9.4 Subtenant shall use propylene glycol as a deicing agent unless Subtenant receives 
written authorization or instruction from the GJRAA to use a different deicing agent. 
 

9.5 Subtenant is wholly and completely responsible for security of the gates, doors or 
other entryway leading to the Airport's air operations areas from the Premises. 
 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 12 
 

9.6 Subtenant shall not cause or permit any Hazardous Material to be brought upon, 
kept or used in or about the Premises by Subtenant, Subtenant’s agents, employees, contractors or 
invitees, without the prior written consent of the GJRAA and Tenant, except for substances and  
in quantities usually and customarily used in airport hangar operations.  If Subtenant breaches the 
obligations stated in the preceding sentence, or if the presence of Hazardous Material on the 
Premises caused or permitted by Subtenant results in contamination of the Premises, then 
Subtenant shall indemnify, defend and hold Tenant and the GJRAA harmless from any and all 
claims, judgments, damages, penalties, fines, costs, liabilities or losses (including, without 
limitation, diminution in value of the Premises, damages for the loss or restriction on use of 
rentable or usable space or of any amenity of the Premises, damages, arising from any adverse 
impact on marketing of space, and sums paid in settlement of claims, attorney fees, consultant fees 
and expert fees) which arise during or after the lease term as a result of such contamination.  This 
indemnification of Tenant and the GJRAA by Subtenant includes, without limitation, costs 
incurred in connection with any investigation of site conditions or any cleanup, remedial, removal, 
or restoration work required by any federal, state, or local government agency or political 
subdivision because of Hazardous Material present in the soil or ground water on or under the 
Premises.  Further, Subtenant’s indemnity obligations hereunder are not limited by any insurance 
coverage Subtenant may have.  Without limiting the foregoing, if the presence of any Hazardous 
Material on the Premises caused or permitted by Subtenant results in any contamination of the 
Premises, Subtenant shall promptly take all actions at its sole expense as are necessary to return 
the Premises to the condition existing prior to the introduction of any such Hazardous Material to 
the Premises, provided that Tenant's and GJRAA's approval of such actions shall first be obtained.  
Subtenant's obligations set forth in this Article 9 shall survive the termination of this Sublease.  
Tenant's obligations set forth in this Article 9 shall also survive the termination of this Sublease. 
 

9.7 As used in Paragraph 9.6, above, the term "Hazardous Material" means any 
hazardous or toxic substance, material or waste which is or becomes regulated by any local 
governmental authority, the State of Colorado or the United States Government.  The term 
"Hazardous Material" includes, without limitation, any material or substance that is (i) defined as 
a "hazardous substance" under appropriate state law provisions; (ii) petroleum; (iii) asbestos; (iv) 
designated as a "hazardous substance" pursuant to Section 311 of the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act (33 U.S.C. ' 1321); (v) defined as a "hazardous waste" pursuant to Section 1004 of 
the Federal Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. ' 6903); (vi) defined as a 
"hazardous substance" pursuant to Section 101 of the Comprehensive Environmental Response, 
Compensation and Liability Act (42 U.S.C. ' 9601); (vii) defined as a "regulated substance" 
pursuant to Subchapter IX, Solid Waste Disposal Act (Regulation of Underground Storage Tanks) 
(42 U.S.C. ' 6991); or, (viii) lavatory waste. 

 
9.8 Upon Tenant's or the GJRAA's request, Subtenant shall provide Tenant or the 

GJRAA  with written certification from a licensed environmental consulting or engineering firm 
that the Premises are not contaminated with any Hazardous Material.  
 
Article 10: Nondiscrimination 
 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 13 
 

10.1 Subtenant, for Subtenant, Subtenant’s personal representatives, successors in 
interest, and assigns, as part of the consideration hereof, warrants that (1) no person shall be 
excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or otherwise be subjected to discrimination 
in the use of the Premises and any improvements thereon on the grounds of race, color, religion, 
sex, age, disability, or national origin; (2) no person on the grounds of race, color, religion, sex, 
age, disability, or national origin shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or 
otherwise be subjected to discrimination in the construction of any improvements on, over, or 
under the Premises and the furnishing of services therein; and (3) Subtenant shall use the premises 
in compliance with all other requirements imposed by or pursuant to Title 49, Code of Federal 
Regulations, Department of Transportation, Subtitle A, Office of the Secretary, Part 21, Non-
discrimination in Federally Assisted Programs of the Department of Transportation, Effectuation 
of Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and as said regulations may be amended. 
 

10.2 Subtenant shall make and/or furnish its accommodations and/or services on a fair, 
equal, and not unjustly discriminatory basis to all users thereof and it shall charge fair, reasonable, 
and not unjustly discriminatory prices for each unit or service; provided that Subtenant may be 
allowed to make reasonable and nondiscriminatory discounts, rebates, or other similar type of price 
reductions to volume purchasers. 
 

10.3 This Sublease is subject to the requirements of the U.S. Department of 
Transportation's regulations governing nondiscrimination.  Subtenant agrees that it will not 
discriminate against any business owner because of the owner's race, color, national origin, age, 
religion, sex, or disability, in connection with the award or performance of any operating 
agreement  relating to this Sublease.  Subtenant further agrees to include the preceding statements 
in any subsequent sub-operating agreements at the Airport that Subtenant enters into and to cause 
those businesses to similarly include the statements in further agreements, as required by any 
applicable rules, regulations and directives. 
 

10.4 Non-compliance with subparagraphs 10.1, 10.2, and 10.3 above, after written 
finding, shall constitute a material breach thereof and, in the event of such non-compliance, Tenant 
or the GJRAA shall have the right to terminate this Sublease and the estate hereby created without 
liability therefor or at the election of the GJRAA or the United States either or both said 
governments shall have the right to judicially enforce said subparagraphs 10.1, 10.2, and 10.3. 
 

10.5 Subtenant assures that it shall undertake an affirmative action program if so  
required by 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E, to insure that no person shall be excluded from 
participating in any employment activities covered in 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E on the grounds 
of race, creed, color, religion, national origin, age, disability, or sex.  Subtenant assures that no 
person shall be excluded on these grounds from participating in or receiving the services or benefits 
of any program or activity covered by this subpart.  Subtenant assures that Subtentant shall require 
that Subtenant’s covered sub-organizations, sub-Subtenants and assignees provide assurances to 
Subtenant that they similarly shall undertake affirmative action programs and that they shall 
require assurances from their sub-organizations, if so required by 14 CFR Part 152, Subpart E, to 
the same effect. 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 14 
 

 
Article 11: Indemnity of Tenant and the GJRAA 
 

11.1 Subtenant shall and hereby agrees to indemnify and forever save Tenant, the 
GJRAA, any heirs, successors, assigns, or legal representatives, board members and employees of 
the GJRAA or Tenant and the Premises free and harmless from and against: 
 

11.1.1 Any and all liability, penalties, losses, damages, costs and expenses, causes of 
action, claims, or judgments arising from or growing out of any injury or injuries to any person or 
persons or any damage or damages to any property as a result of any accident or other occurrence 
during the term of this Sublease occasioned by any act or acts, omission or omissions of the 
Subtenant, Subtenant’s officers, employees, agents, servants, subtenants, concessionaires, 
licensees, contractors, invitees, or permitees, or arising from, growing out of, or in any way related 
to the use, maintenance, occupation, or operation of the Premises during the term of this Sublease; 
 

11.1.2 From and against all legal costs, expenses, and charges, including reasonable 
attorneys' fees, incurred in and about such matters and the defense of any action arising out of the 
same or in discharging the Premises or any part thereof from any and all liens, charges, or 
judgments which may accrue or be placed thereon by reason of any act or omission of the 
Subtenant or Subtenant’s agents, employees, representatives, assigns, contractors, subcontractors, 
subtenants, licensees, invitees, or by any or person or entity in any way related to Subtenant; and 
 

11.1.3 From any liability on account of or in respect or any mechanic's lien or liens in the 
nature thereof for work and labor done or materials furnished at the instance and request of the 
Subtenant in, on, or about the Premises and, accordingly, Subtenant will either satisfy any such 
lien or, if Subtenant disputes the validity thereof, will defend any action for the enforcement 
thereof (and if Subtenant loses any action, will cause such lien to be satisfied and released). 

 
11.2 Notwithstanding any other provision of this Sublease to the contrary, Subtenant 

shall and hereby agrees to indemnify and forever save Tenant and its successors, assigns, members, 
managers, agents and employees free and harmless from and against any and all liabilities, 
penalties, losses, damages, costs and expenses, causes of action, claims or judgments, including 
reasonable attorneys' fees and costs, arising from or growing out of Subtenant's operations on the 
Premises, and from Subtenant's performance or failure to perform any of Tenant's duties and 
obligations under the Lease which are to be performed during the term of this Sublease. 

 
11.3 Subtenant's indemnity obligations under this section shall be supported by 

insurance, but this insurance requirement shall be a separate and distinct obligation from 
Subtenant's indemnity obligations, and the insurance and indemnity obligations shall be separately 
and independently enforceable.  Further, Subtenant's indemnity obligations hereunder are not 
limited by any insurance coverage Subtenant may have. 

 
Article 12: Eminent Domain 
 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 15 
 

12.1 In the event that all or any portion of the Premises is taken for any public or quasi-
public purpose by any lawful condemning authority, including the GJRAA, exercising its powers 
of eminent domain (or in the event that all or any portion of the Premises is conveyed to such a 
condemning authority in settlement and acceptance of such condemning authority's offer to 
purchase all or any portion of the Premises in connection with its threat to take said areas under 
power of condemnation or eminent domain), the proceeds, if any, from such taking or conveyance 
shall be allocated between Tenant, the GJRAA and Subtenant according to the applicable Colorado 
law of eminent domain.  If a portion of the Premises is so taken or sold, and as a result thereof, the 
remaining part cannot be used reasonably to continue the authorized purposes contemplated by 
this Sublease in an economically viable manner, then this Sublease shall be deemed terminated at 
the end of a period of sixty (60) days following said taking or conveyance.  In that event and at 
that time, Subtenant shall surrender the Premises to Tenant and all of Tenant's fixtures and personal 
property thereon, and Subtenant may remove its improvements, fixtures and personal property 
located upon the Premises, in accordance with the provisions of this Sublease.  No severance 
damages shall be paid by Tenant or the GJRAA to Subtenant as the result of the condemnation nor 
shall any damages be paid to Subtenant as the result of the termination of this Sublease. 
 

12.2 The GJRAA may grant or take easements or rights-of-way across the Premises if it 
determines it is in its best interests and in accordance with applicable Colorado law of eminent 
domain.  If the GJRAA grants or takes such an easement or right-of-way across any of the 
Premises, Subtenant shall be entitled to compensation in accordance with applicable Colorado law 
of eminent domain. 
 
Article 13: Substitution of Premises 
 

13.1 Subtenant acknowledges that in addition to the GJRAA's other rights set forth in 
this Sublease, the GJRAA has the right (but not the obligation) to substitute Comparable Areas for 
all or any portion of the Premises, and any additions, alterations or improvements thereon, should 
the GJRAA, in its sole discretion, determine that taking of the Premises, any portion thereof, or 
any improvement thereon, is required for other Airport purposes.  In the event that the GJRAA 
elects to exercise its right to substitute, all title, right and interest to the portion of Premises taken 
shall immediately vest in the GJRAA.  Furthermore, the GJRAA may require Subtenant to vacate 
the portion of the Premises taken.  For the purposes of this Article 13, the term "Comparable Areas" 
is defined to mean a parcel of land within the Airport, or any additions or extensions thereof, 
similar in size to the Premises and brought to the same level of improvement as the Premises.  The 
GJRAA shall bear all expenses of bringing the substituted area to the same level of improvement 
as the Premises, and of moving Subtenant's improvements, equipment, furniture, and fixtures to 
the substituted area. If any of Subtenant's improvements, equipment, furniture, or fixtures cannot 
be relocated, the GJRAA shall replace, at the GJRAA's expense, such non-relocatable 
improvements and other property with comparable property in the Premises, and the GJRAA shall 
be deemed the owner of the non-relocated improvements and other property, free and clear of all 
claims of any interest or title therein by Subtenant, or any other third party whomsoever.  It is the 
specific intent of this subparagraph that Subtenant be placed, to the extent possible, in the same 
position it would have been, had new premises not been substituted for the Premises; provided, 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 16 
 

however, that the GJRAA shall not be obligated to reimburse Subtenant for any damages, 
including lost profits or revenues, due to such substitution. 
 

13.2 Nothing in subparagraph 13.1, above, shall be construed to adversely affect the 
GJRAA's rights to condemn Subtenant's leasehold rights and interests in the Premises, and 
improvements thereon, should the GJRAA, in its sole discretion, determine that it requires all or 
any portion of the Premises, and improvements thereon, for other Airport purposes. The GJRAA 
may, at its sole discretion, exercise its leasehold condemnation rights under Article 12, above, in 
lieu of the GJRAA's substitution rights set forth in subparagraph 13.1, above.  Nothing in this 
Article 13 shall be construed as a promise by the GJRAA to substitute Comparable Areas for the 
Premises.  In the event the GJRAA proceeds by way of condemnation, subparagraph 13.1 shall 
not apply, and Subtenant shall be entitled to compensation for its leasehold interests in that portion 
of the Premises, and improvements thereon, so taken, in accordance with applicable Colorado 
condemnation law. 
 
Article 14: Airport Development Rights; Emergency Use of Premises 
 

14.1 Subtenant acknowledges that in addition to the GJRAA's other rights set forth in 
this Sublease, the GJRAA may further develop or improve all areas within the Airport, including 
landing areas, as the GJRAA may determine, in its sole discretion, to be in the best interests of the 
Airport, regardless of the desires or views of Subtenant, and without further interference or 
hindrance from Subtenant.  Furthermore, the GJRAA may from time to time increase or decrease 
the size or capacity of any airfield areas and Airport rights of way/facilities (other than the 
Premises), make alterations thereto, reconstruct or relocate them, modify the design and type of 
construction thereof, or close them, or any portion or portions of them, either temporarily or 
permanently, without being liable for any damages, including lost profits or revenues, that may be 
caused Subtenant thereby, and without being deemed to have terminated this Sublease as a result 
thereto.  
 

14.2 Subtenant hereby permits the GJRAA to utilize all, or a portion of, the Premises, as 
well as the public airfield areas and any other parts of the Airport, should an emergency or other 
unforeseen circumstance arise at the Airport, and should the GJRAA determine, in its sole 
discretion, that the GJRAA needs to utilize all or a portion of the Premises, or other areas of the 
Airport, for business, media, first aid, or other purposes, during the pendency of said emergency 
or other unforeseen circumstance.  The GJRAA shall use best efforts to attempt to locate alternative 
space on the Airport from which Subtenant may conduct Subtenant’s business, while the GJRAA 
is utilizing all or a portion of the Premises during the pendency of the emergency or unforeseen 
circumstances.  If the GJRAA is not able to find alternate space on the Airport from which 
Subtenant may conduct Subtenant’s business during said emergency or unforeseen circumstances, 
then Subtenant shall be entitled to an abatement of ground rent, allocable to that portion of the 
Premises utilized by the GJRAA, for the length of time the GJRAA utilizes said portion of the 
Premises.  Finally, regardless of whether the GJRAA is able to locate alternate premises on the 
Airport for Subtenant to conduct Subtenant’s business, Subtenant shall not be entitled to any 
damages, including lost profits or revenues from the GJRAA, as a result of the GJRAA's utilization 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 17 
 

of the Premises or other areas of the Airport during the emergency or unforeseen circumstances 
involved, and Subtenant shall continue to owe the GJRAA and/or Tenant all landing fees and other 
fees and charges that accrue during said period. 
 
Article 15: Cooperation with Tenant in Collecting Fees 
 

15.1 Subtenant understands that commercial ground transportation operators who pick 
up their patrons at the Premises must pay access fees, as well as other fees and charges, to 
theGJRAA, pursuant to the GJRAA's Fees and Charges, as they may be amended from time to 
time.  Accordingly, in order to assist the GJRAA in determining the fees owed to the GJRAA by 
said ground transportation operators, Subtenant will, to the best of Subtenant’s ability, provide in 
writing to the GJRAA on or before the fifth (5th) day of each month, the following information 
for each non-local taxicab, for-hire van, for-hire luxury limousine, for-hire people mover, for-hire 
bus, local hotel/motel courtesy vehicles, and off-Airport rental car operators (i.e., for each ground 
transportation vehicle operator other than local taxicab or on-Airport rental car operators) that 
picked up a ground transportation customer on the Premises during the preceding month: 
 

15.1.1 the name, business address, and telephone number of each operator involved; and 
 

15.1.2 the date and time of each customer picked up by each such operator during the 
preceding month. 
 

15.2 Subtenant shall provide to the GJRAA or third party governmental agency involved 
such additional information or clarifications as the GJRAA or governmental agency may request, 
to (a) enable the GJRAA to calculate the landing fees, access fees, and other fees owed by aircraft 
and ground transportation operators to the GJRAA pursuant to the GJRAA's Fees and Charges, as 
the same may be amended from time to time; (b) further the GJRAA's ability to market, promote 
and manage the Airport; or (c) to comply with governmental monetary collections and reporting 
requirements. Any subsequent changes or corrections in the information provided by Subtenant 
shall be reported to the GJRAA and/or governmental agency involved within seven (7) days of 
Subtenant's discovery of said changes or corrections. 
 

15.3 Subtenant shall not provide any storage or other services authorized hereunder to 
any aircraft operator, or permit a ground transportation operator to access its Premises to pick-up 
or drop off a ground transportation patron, if said aircraft or ground transportation operator is more 
than ninety (90) days delinquent in any monies owed to the GJRAA, and the GJRAA has sent 
written notice to Subtenant instructing Subtenant to cease providing its services or access to said 
operator.  
 

15.4 Subtenant shall comply with such other statutes, regulations, and directives 
regarding the collection, payment, and reporting of such taxes, fees, and other charges applicable 
to or for the benefit of the Airport, in the future. 
 
Article 16: Signs 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 18 
 

 
No exterior signs, logos, or advertising displays identifying Subtenant or its assigns, 

subtenants, or customers shall be painted on or erected in any manner upon the Premises, or in or 
on any improvements or additions upon the Premises, without the prior written approval of Tenant 
and the GJRAA, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Any such signs, logos, or 
advertising shall conform to reasonable standards to be established by Tenant and the GJRAA, 
with respect to type, size, design, materials and location.  All signs shall comply with all applicable 
city, county, state, and federal rules, regulations, and laws. 
 
Article 17: Damage to Airport; Waste 
 

17.1 Subtenant shall be liable for any damage to the Airport and to any improvements 
thereon caused by Subtenant, or by Subtenant's board members, officers, agents, employees, 
contractors, subcontractors, assigns, subtenants, guests, invitees, or anyone acting under its 
direction and control, ordinary wear and tear excepted. All repairs for which Subtenant is liable 
shall be made, at the GJRAA's option, (a) by Subtenant at its own expense, provided that said 
repairs are made timely and to theGJRAA's satisfaction as to the quality of repair or, if not timely 
or satisfactorily made by Subtenant, then by the GJRAA at Subtenant's expense or (b) by Tenant 
at Subtenant's expense. 
 

17.2 Subtenant may not commit waste upon the Premises.  Additionally, Subtenant may 
not conduct mining or drilling operations, remove sand, gravel, or kindred substances from the 
ground, commit waste of any kind, nor in any manner that changes the contour or condition of the 
Premises without prior written permission of Tenant and the GJRAA. 

 
Article 18. Quiet Enjoyment 
 

Tenant expressly covenants and represents that upon payment of fees when due and upon 
timely performance of all other conditions required herein, Subtenant shall peaceably have, 
possess and enjoy the Premises and all other rights herein granted, without hindrance or 
disturbance from Tenant, subject to Tenant's rights contained elsewhere in this Sublease.  
Notwithstanding the provision set forth in the preceding sentence or any other provision of this 
Sublease, the GJRAA, Tenant, and any of their tenants shall have the right to traverse the Premises 
if the GJRAA, in its sole discretion, believes that such traversing is necessary or desirable for the 
efficient operations by the GJRAA, Tenant, or the other tenants. 
 
Article 19: Surrender Upon Termination; Holding Over 
 

19.1 Upon the expiration or sooner termination of this Sublease, Subtenant shall 
peaceably surrender to Tenant possession of the Premises, together with any improvements, 
fixtures, or personal property of Tenant and/or the GJRAA thereon in as good a condition as the 
Premises, and improvements, fixtures, and personal property were initially provided to Subtenant, 
ordinary wear and tear excepted, without any compensation whatsoever, and free and clear of any 
claims of interest of Subtenant or any other third party whomsoever. 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 19 
 

 
19.2 Subject to Tenant's and/or the GJRAA's lien rights under applicable Colorado law 

and Section 4.3, upon expiration or sooner termination of the Lease, Subtenant shall have thirty 
(30) days from such date of expiration or termination to remove from the Premises all personal 
property, improvements, and fixtures belonging to Subtenant, its customers, or any third parties. 
Following its removal of any improvements, fixtures or other personal property from the Premises 
or from any improvement on the Premises, Subtenant shall restore the Premises, and other 
improvements from which the fixtures or property were taken, to good condition and repair.  
Following the exercise of its right to remove any improvement from the Premises, Subtenant shall 
restore the Premises upon which such removed improvements were located to a flat and level 
condition, and if paved, then re-paved to the same depth and specifications as existing at the 
expiration or sooner termination of this Sublease.  Title to all personal property, fixtures, and 
improvements not removed by Subtenant from the Premises within thirty (30) days of the 
expiration or sooner termination of this Sublease, including any building it has constructed thereon 
shall automatically vest in Tenant, without payment by Tenant to Subtenant of any compensation 
whatsoever, and said personal property, fixtures, and improvements shall thereafter be owned by 
Tenant free and clear of any claim of interest by Subtenant or of any third party whomsoever.  
Tenant also shall receive the standard rental payment from Subtenant for the use of the Premises 
for the personal property, fixtures, and improvements thereon until such time as Subtenant removes 
said personal property, fixtures, and improvements from the Premises, or Subtenant provides 
Tenant with written notice of its decision not to remove said personal property, fixtures, and 
improvements from the Premises. 
 

19.3 If Subtenant holds over or remains in possession or occupancy of the Premises after 
the expiration of this Sublease without any written renewal thereof, such holding over or continued 
possession or occupancy shall not be deemed as a renewal or extension of this Sublease, and it 
shall create only a tenancy from month to month which may be terminated at any time by Tenant 
or the GJRAA upon thirty (30) days written notice.  Such holding over shall otherwise be upon the 
same terms and conditions as set forth in this Sublease. 
 
Article 20: Default and Remedies 
 

20.1 The Subtenant shall be in default of this Sublease upon the happening of any of the 
following events or conditions ("Events of Default"): 
 

20.1.1 Default by Subtenant or any of its assignees or subtenants in payment or 
performance of any obligation, covenant or liability contained or referred to in the Lease or this 
Sublease.  
 

20.1.2 The Subtenant's death, legal incapacity, dissolution, or termination of existence, 
insolvency, business failure, appointment of a receiver for or the commencement of any 
proceedings under any bankruptcy or insolvency laws by or against the Subtenant, or the general 
assignment of Subtenant's rights, title and interest hereunder for the benefit of creditors; 
 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 20 
 

20.1.3 The Premises being left vacant or unoccupied or apparently abandoned by 
Subtenant for a period of 30 days. 
 

20.1.4 The placement or assertion of any mechanics' lien or other lien on the Premises due 
to any act or omission by Subtenant or those claiming under Subtenant. 

 
20.2 Upon an Event of Default, Tenant and/or the GJRAA shall have the right to, and at 

their option may, exercise any one or more of the following rights and remedies, each of which 
shall be cumulative and in addition to all other rights and remedies authorized by law or equity: 
 

20.2.1 Tenant and/or the GJRAA may, with or without terminating this Sublease, bring 
and maintain any action for any amount due and unpaid and/or for specific performance.  Tenant's 
and/or the GJRAA's damages shall be the total of all rent and cost and expenses of performance of 
all other covenants of the Subtenant as herein provided due or to become due for the remainder of 
the lease term together with Tenant's and/or the GJRAA's costs, including reasonable attorneys' 
fees, incurred in retaking possession of the Premises and bringing the action.  Tenant shall have 
the sole discretion to determine the terms and conditions of reletting the Premises. 
 

20.2.2 Tenant and/or the GJRAA may reenter and take possession of the Premises, remove 
all persons and property therefrom, and declare this Sublease and the leasehold estate hereby 
created to be, and thereupon the same shall be and become, terminated and ended.  
 

20.2.3 Tenant and/or the GJRAA may, at their option, with or without declaring this 
Sublease or the leasehold estate created hereby terminated or ended, occupy the Premises or cause 
the Premises to be redecorated, altered, divided, consolidated with other adjoining premises, or 
otherwise changed or prepared for reletting, and may relet the Premises or any part thereof in order 
to mitigate Tenant's and/or the GJRAA's damages.  The terms and conditions of such reletting shall 
be in the discretion of Tenant and the GJRAA.  All rent received by Tenant and/or the GJRAA for 
the remainder of the lease term shall be applied first to the payment of expenses that Tenant and/or 
the GJRAA may have incurred in connection with recovery of possession of the Premises and/or 
preparing it for reletting, and the reletting, including brokerage and reasonable attorneys' fees, and 
then to the payment of amounts equal to the rent hereunder and the costs and expense of 
performance of the other covenants of Subtenant as herein provided.  Subtenant shall, whether or 
not Tenant or the GJRAA has relet, pay Tenant or the GJRAA all rent and other sums herein agreed 
to be paid by Subtenant, less the net proceeds of the reletting, if any, as ascertained from time to 
time, and the same shall be payable by Subtenant upon demand.  If Tenant or the GJRAA elects, 
pursuant hereto, to actually occupy and use the Premises or any part thereof during any part of the 
balance of the lease terms as originally fixed or since extended, there shall be allowed against 
Subtenant's obligation for rent or other charges as herein defined, during the period of Tenant's or 
the GJRAA's occupancy, the reasonable value of such occupancy, not to exceed in any event the 
rent herein reserved, and such occupancy shall not be construed as a release of Subtenant's liability 
hereunder. 
 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 21 
 

20.2.4 Tenant and/or the GJRAA may, on reasonable notice to Subtenant (except that no 
notice need be given in case of emergency), cure any breach at the expense of Subtenant and the 
cost of such cure, including attorneys' fees incurred by Tenant and/or the GJRAA in doing so, shall 
be deemed additional rent payable on demand. 
 

20.3 In the event Tenant and/or the GJRAA relets the Premises, any and all of 
Subtenant's improvements, structures, furniture, furnishings, equipment, and trade fixtures that are 
in or on or about the Premises may be used by Tenant, the GJRAA or a new Subtenant until the 
expiration of the natural term without any liability for rent, compensation, or other charge therefor; 
however, if, on the expiration of the natural term or on an earlier termination of this Sublease, the 
total net amount so collected or received by Tenant or the GJRAA from and through any such 
reletting or operation has exceeded the total amount accrued and due and unpaid from the 
Subtenant, then such excess shall be applied to the Subtenant. 
 

20.4 Whenever a right of reentry is given to Tenant or the GJRAA by the terms of this 
Sublease or the terms of the Lease, Tenant or the GJRAA may exercise the same by agent or 
attorney, and with or without legal process, such process and demand for possession of the 
Premises being expressly waived by Subtenant, and Tenant or the GJRAA may use all force 
necessary to make such entry and/or hold the Premises after such entry and/or to remove Subtenant 
and/or any other person and property from the Premises; and Tenant or the GJRAA shall be 
entitled, on application to a court of competent jurisdiction, to have a receiver appointed in aid of 
the enforcement of any remedy herein provided. 
 

20.5 Subtenant waives all right of redemption to which Subtenant or any person claiming 
under Subtenant may be entitled by any law now or hereafter enforced. 
 

20.6 Tenant's or the GJRAA's retaking of possession of the Premises shall not constitute 
acceptance of surrender, eviction, or forfeiture of the Sublease.  Tenant and Subtenant hereby 
expressly agree that if, after Subtenant's default, Tenant or the GJRAA retakes possession of the 
Premises, Subtenant shall remain liable for all unaccrued rent, and all other obligations of this 
Sublease for the remainder of the lease term; notwithstanding Tenant's or the GJRAA's reentry.  
Upon default, Tenant or the GJRAA may exercise any of the remedies specified herein and/or in 
the Lease. 
 

20.7 Any defaults by either of the parties in the performance of any of the terms and 
conditions contained herein shall be excused where due to force majeure, which, among other 
things, shall include natural catastrophes such as hurricanes, tornadoes, or floods, acts of God, acts 
of war, and governmental statutes, regulations, directives, or contracts governing the operation of 
the Airport, with which Tenant, the GJRAA, or Subtenant must comply. 
 
Article 21: Representations Regarding Legalities 
 

21.1 All notices and communications hereunder shall be given by (a) hand delivery, (b) 
depositing the same in the United States mail, postage prepaid, registered or certified mail, or (c) 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 22 
 

nationally recognized overnight express service which provides for written acknowledgment of 
receipt, and addressed to the relevant addresses as set forth in Article 1, above, or to such other 
address as either party may by notice in writing given to the other, respectively, specify.  Notices 
shall be deemed given on the date of hand delivery, or on the date of receipt from mailing or 
deposit with the express service company.  Notice given in a manner other than as specified herein 
shall be ineffective. 
 

21.2 Subtenant's interest in the Premises shall be subordinated to those of any existing 
or future lender holding a mortgage or deed of trust on the Premises, and Subtenant will, at Tenant's 
or the GJRAA's request, sign such subordination agreements or statements as such lenders may 
from time to time require. 
 

21.3 The failure of either party or the GJRAA to insist upon the strict and prompt 
performance of any of the terms, covenants, agreements, and conditions herein contained shall not 
constitute or be construed as a waiver or relinquishment of the GJRAA's or the party's right or 
rights thereafter to enforce any term, covenant, agreement, or condition, but the same shall 
continue in full force and effect.  The waiver of any breach of any term, covenant, agreement, or 
condition herein contained by either party shall not be construed to be a waiver of any subsequent 
breach of the same or any other term, covenant, agreement, or condition. 
 

21.4 This Sublease constitutes the entire agreement of the parties.  Modifications or 
amendments to this Sublease shall be effective only if made in writing and executed by all the 
parties hereto with the same formality as and by making reference to this Sublease.  This Sublease 
shall replace and supersede all prior leases, amendments and addenda thereto and any other 
agreements between the parties hereto and any other agreements between the parties with respect 
to the Premises, all of which shall be deemed terminated upon mutual execution of this Sublease.  
 

21.5 Time shall be of the essence of this Sublease, and the terms hereof shall be binding 
upon the heirs, personal representatives, and assigns of each of the parties hereto. 
 

21.6 The article or other headings employed in this Sublease are for convenience of 
reference only.  Such headings shall not be interpreted as enlarging or limiting the meaning of any 
portion of this Sublease. 
 

21.7 Subtenant represents that Subtenant is the owner of, or is fully authorized to use 
any and all services, processes, machines, articles, marks, names, or slogans used by Subtenant in 
Subtenant's operations under this Sublease. Subtenant shall save and hold Tenant and the GJRAA, 
as well as their Board members, officers, employees, agents, and representatives, free and harmless 
against any loss, liability, expense, suit, or claim for damages in connection with any actual or 
alleged infringement of any patent, trademark, or copyright, or from any claim of unfair 
competition or other similar claim, arising out of Subtenant's operations under, or in connection 
with, this Sublease. 
 



Junction Aerotech Sublease (jrs v09-26-2017)  Page 23 
 

21.8 Subtenant shall pay all legal and surveying fees and costs associated with the rental 
of the Premises under this Sublease or any addendum hereto.  Furthermore Subtenant shall assist 
in any way Tenant or the GJRAA deems advisable in preparing, executing or recording a 
Memorandum of Sublease relating to this Sublease. 
 

21.9 If any term or condition of this Sublease or the application thereof to any person or 
event shall to any extent be deemed invalid and unenforceable, the remainder of this Sublease and 
the application of such term, covenant, or condition to persons or events other than those to which 
it is held invalid or unenforceable shall not be affected and each term, covenant, and condition of 
this Sublease shall be valid and be enforced to the fullest extent permitted by law. 
 

21.10 Tenant expressly covenants and represents that it is the lessee of the Premises, and 
has the right to enter into this Sublease and grant the rights contained herein to Subtenant.  With 
respect to Subtenant, the undersigned warrants and represents he/she is authorized to execute this 
Sublease on Subtenant's behalf, and Subtenant shall be bound as a signatory to this Sublease by 
his/her execution of this Sublease.  
 

21.11 Should Subtenant breach any of its obligations hereunder, Tenant or the GJRAA 
may, nevertheless, thereafter accept from Subtenant any payment or payments due hereunder, and 
continue this Sublease in effect, without in any way waiving Tenant's or the GJRAA's right to 
exercise and enforce all available default rights hereunder, or any other remedies provided by law, 
for said breach. 
 

21.12 The parties agree that Tenant and the GJRAA are not in any way or for any purpose 
partner or joint venturers with, or agent of, Subtenant in its use of the Premises or any 
improvements thereon. 
 

21.13 If litigation is required to interpret or enforce this Sublease, the prevailing party 
(i.e.the GJRAA, Subtenant or Tenant) shall be awarded their reasonable attorney's fees, costs and 
other expenses incurred in addition to any other relief it receives. 
 

21.14 The other documents referenced in this Sublease (i.e. the Minimum Standards, 
Architectural Standards, GJRAA's Fees and Charges, Safety Procedures, Fuel Procedures, and 
Mandatory Sublease Provisions) are integral parts of this Sublease and Subtenant is bound by the 
terms set forth therein.  It is Subtenant's responsibility to obtain copies of those documents from 
Tenant or the GJRAA. 
 

21.15 This Sublease shall be interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Colorado and applicable federal law.  Should either party or the GJRAA believe it necessary to 
file suit to interpret or enforce any provisions of this Sublease, the exclusive venue and jurisdiction 
for said lawsuit shall be in the Mesa County, Colorado, District Court, or if federal court 
jurisdiction would be appropriate, then in either the Mesa County, Colorado, District Court or the 
Federal District Court in Denver. 
 



 

21.16 The parties intend the GJRAA to be a third party beneficiary of this Sublease. 
 

21.17 Nothing in this Sublease shall limit or amend in any way the terms of, or the 
Tenant's liability to the GJRAA under, the Lease executed by the Tenant and the GJRAA, and as 
to the Premises described in this Sublease, Subtenant agrees to perform all of Tenant’s obligations 
under said Lease. 

 
21.19 Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed or interpreted in any manner 

whatsoever as limiting, relinquishing, or waiving any rights of ownership enjoyed by the GJRAA 
in its property, or in any manner waiving or limiting the GJRAA’s control over the operation, 
maintenance, and general administration of the GJRAA’s property or operations, nor in derogation 
of, such governmental rights as the GJRAA possesses, except as is specifically provided herein.  
Upon termination of this Agreement, all rights of Subtenant with respect to the use of the Airport 
as granted herein shall at once cease and terminate. 

 
21.20 Nothing contained in this Sublease shall be deemed or construed to nullify, restrict, 

or modify, in any manner, the provisions of any other leases or contracts between the GJRAA and 
any other person or entity. 

 
21.21 It is hereby agreed that nothing contained herein shall be construed to grant or 

authorize the granting of an exclusive right prohibited by Section 308 of the Federal Aviation Act 
of 1958, as amended, and the GJRAA reserves the right to grant to others the privilege and right 
of conducting any one or all activities that are aeronautical in nature. 

 
21.22 Facsimile or electronic transmission of a signature shall be sufficient to evidence 

of the execution of this Sublease. 
 
21.23 Any payment obligation or repair obligation that exists as of the termination or 

cancellation of this Sublease shall extend until the obligation is satisfied.  All of the provisions, 
covenants, and stipulations in this Sublease shall extend to and bind the legal representatives, 
successors and assigns of Subtenant. 

 
21.24 Subtenant expressly agrees to prevent any use of the Premises which would 

interfere with or adversely affect the operation or maintenance of the Airport or otherwise 
constitute an airport hazard. 

 
21.25 Subtenant expressly agrees to restrict the height of structures, objects of natural 

growth, and other obstructions on the Premises to such a height so as to comply with Federal 
Aviation Regulations, Part 77. 

 
21.26 But for a requirement by the State of Colorado, both Tenant and Subtenant agree to 

refrain from any exploratory (ground penetrating) environmental testing until April 1, 2020 
without first obtaining the mutual written consent of the parties.  Further, Subtenant shall, at its 
sole cost, maintain during the entire term, as it may be extended, Pollution Legal Liability 
Insurance with limits, deductible and breadth of coverage as covered by the current policy in place 
with Allied World Insurance Company,  Policy Number 0309-3346 including maintaining the retro 



 

date and maintaining the coverage the policy currently provides with respect to new conditions as 
well as the current pre-existing conditions coverage for claims initiated by a governmental entity 
only that the insured is legally obligated to pay and also including the Tenant and GJRAA as 
named insureds under the policy. 

 
21.27 Subtenant agrees to provide Tenant with audited financial statements, consisting of 

a Profit & Loss Statement and a Balance Sheet (the “Financial Statements”), on an annual basis 
upon completion thereof, within a reasonable time frame after the expiration of each calendar year 
of Subtenant, but in no event later than May 1st of each calendar year.  If Tenant desires to share 
the Financial Statements with any third party, Tenant shall promptly notify Subtenant of its request 
to disclose the Financial Statements, which such request shall include the name of the third party 
the Tenant wishes to disclose such Financial Statements to and a brief description of the purpose 
for such disclosure.  Within a reasonable time frame, Subtenant shall notify Tenant as to whether 
it approves or disapproves of such request, with such approval or disapproval not to be 
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed.  Prior to Tenant's sharing of the Financial 
Statements with any third party, such third party shall execute a non-disclosure agreement in a 
form reasonably approved by Subtenant. 

 
  



 

Done and entered into on the date first above written.  
 

TENANT: 
JUNCTION AEROTECH, LLC 
By: FDSL, LLC, Managing Member of Junction 
 AeroTech, LLC 

 
Dated:      By  

Its: Manager 
 

SUBTENANT: 
WEST STAR AVIATION, LLC 

 
Dated:      By  

Its  
 

GJRAA hereby consents to this Sublease, and represents and warrants to Subtenant that as of the 
date of its signature below, the Lease is in full force and effect and that Tenant is not in default 
under the Lease.   

     Agreed, Acknowledged and Consented to: 
 

GRAND JUNCTION REGIONAL AIRPORT 
AUTHORITY 

 
 
Dated:      By  

Its  



 

 
27 

 EXHIBIT A 
 Description of the Premises 
 
WEST STAR AVIATION  
Buildings 
 
ADDRESS DESCRIPTION APPROXIMATE SIZE 
804 Heritage Way Paint Hangar 24,792 
802 Heritage Way Maint. Hangar 32,474 
800 Heritage Way Office 6,400 
796 Heritage Way FBO/  

Hangar 
21,000 
31,074 

2856 Aviators Way Accessory Bldg. 8,217 
2870 Aviators Way Completions 20,354 
790 Heritage Way New Hangar 80,000 
2858 Aviators Way Herr Hangar 13,650 
   
 Total Square Footage: 237,961 

 
 
 
 
 



 

 
28 

 EXHIBIT B 
 Survey Including Common and Particular Description of the Premises 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 

 
29 

 EXHIBIT C 
 Lease 
 
 



 

 
30 

 EXHIBIT D 
 Rent Schedule 
 

 01/01/15-
12/31/19 

01/01/20-
12/31/24 

01/01/25-
8/15/34 

1st Add’l 
Extension 
8/16/34-
12/31/34 

1st Add’l 
Extension 
01/01/35-
8/15/38 

2nd Add’l 
Extension 
8/16/38- 
8/15/42 

3rd Add’l 
Extension 
8/16/42- 
12/31/44 

3rd Add’l 
Extension 
01/01/45- 
8/15/46 

4th Add’l 
Extension 
8/16/46- 
8/15/50 

5th Add’l 
Extension 
8/16/50- 
8/15/54 

Acquisition/Original 
Footprint Rent 

$82,232.10 $82,232.10 $93,168.97 $93,168.97 $102,485.87 $102,485.87 $102,485.87 $104,535.59 $108,717.01 $113,065.69 

790 Heritage Way  
Effective 
10/01/2011 

$76,413.19 $76,413.19 $86,576.15 $86,576.15 $95,233.77 $95,233.77 $95,233.77 $97,138.45 $101,023.98 $105,064.94 

2858Aviators Way 
Herr Hangar  
Effective 8/15/08 

$6,469.37 $6,469.37 $6,863.35 $6,863.35 $7,069.25 $7,069.25 $7,069.25 $7,210.64 $7,499.06 $7,799.02 

Ramp Project 
 ($193k) 

$1,910.17 $1,910.17 $2,026.50 $2,026.50 $2,087.30 $2,087.30 $2,087.30 $2,129.05 $2,214.21 $2,302.78 

Accessory Pain 
Booth/Card Reader 
Projects 

          

Total: $167,024.83 $167,024.83 $188,634.97 $188,634.97 $206,876.18 $206,876.18 $206,876.18 $211,013.71 $219,454.26 $228,232.43 

 
 



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC: HUB insurance services 
 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the contract extension to 12/31/18 for HUB 
International Insurance Services 

DISCUSSION: HUB is the insurance broker for the airport covering general liability, 
auto, D & O and medical insurance policies.  The airport and HUB 
entered into an agreement on April 22, 2015 for insurance broker 
services.  The attached extension will allow the airport to continue 
using HUB through the renewal period for all policies expiring 
6/1/18, with the exception of medical insurance, which expires 9/1/18. 
 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
 

$10,000 – amount is in the 2018 budget 

ATTACHMENTS: Extension agreement 

STAFFCONTACT: Ty Minnick 
tminnick@gjairport.com 
970-248-8593 

 

  

mailto:tminnick@gjairport.com


Agreement for Professional Insurance Brokerage Services 

First Extension 

 THIS FIRST EXTENSION TO FEE AGREEMENT (this “Extension”) is hereby entered 
into by and between Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority (“GJRAA”), located at 800 Eagle 
Drive, Grand Junction, CO 81506 and HUB International Insurance Services, Inc. (“HUB”), 
located at 2747 Crossroads Blvd., Grand Junction, CO 81506. 

 WHEREAS, the Parties entered into that certain Agreement for Professional Insurance 
Brokerage Services (the “Agreement”) for the provision of commercial general liability, 
professional liability, commercial automobile liability, and workers’ compensation, and other 
insurance policies therein identified on April 22, 2015; and  

 WHEREAS, the term of said Agreement is set to end April 21, 2018, unless otherwise 
extended by the Parties; and  

 WHEREAS, GJRAA desires to extend the term of said Agreement until December 31, 
2018, and HUB desires to so serve for such period. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises contained in the Agreement 
for Professional Insurance Brokerage Services, and as set forth in this Extension, the Parties agree 
as follows: 

1. First Extension of Term.  The term of the Agreement for Professional Insurance 
Brokerage Services is hereby extended, and shall continue through December 31, 2018, unless 
otherwise extended by the Parties.  

 
2. Remainder of Agreement Unchanged.  All other provisions of the Agreement for 

Professional Insurance Brokerage Services, including any attachments thereto, shall remain 
unchanged and in full force and effect during the period of this Extension. Any provisions of said 
Agreement for Professional Insurance Brokerage Services in conflict herewith shall be resolved 
by equitable agreement the Parties to effectuate their mutual understanding.   

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have signed this Extension to be effective as of 
April 21, 2018. 

 

HUB INTERNATIONAL 
INSURANCE SERVICES, INC. 
 

By: ________________________________ 

Name: ______________________________ 

Title: _______________________________ 

Date: _______________________________ 

GRAND JUNCTION 
REGIONAL AIRPORT AUTHORITY 
 

By: ________________________________ 

Name:______________________________ 

Title: _______________________________ 

Date: _______________________________ 



Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority 

Agenda Item Summary 

TOPIC:  Tenant sublease: Sky Adventures, LLC and Western Sky 
Consulting, LLC 

PURPOSE: Information ☐ Guidance ☐ Decision ☒ 

RECOMMENDATION: Staff recommends the Board approve the non-aeronautical ground 
sublease between Sky Adventures, LLC and Western Sky 
Consulting, LLC. 
 

DISCUSSION: Sky Adventures, LLC has signed a sublease agreement with 
Western Sky Consulting, LLC. This Sublease is a one year term. 
Any renewal has to be approved by the board. Western Sky 
Consulting, LLC consists of 663 square feet at the Sky 
Adventured building. This agreement is a non-aeronautical 
ground sublease.  Lease terms include monthly rent of $244 and 
security deposit of $488.  Western Sky will use the space for 
office space as a medical device distributor. 
 
Airport general counsel has reviewed the lease without exception. 
 

FISCAL IMPACT: None 

COMMUNICATION    
STRATEGY: 

N/A 

ATTACHMENTS: First three pages of lease 

STAFF CONTACT: Chance Ballegeer 
Airport Security Coordinator 
Email: cballegeer@gjairport.com 
Office: 970-248-8586 
 

 
 








	001- Regular Board Meeting - Mar 2018
	01- 180320 Agenda-Regular Board Meeting
	1- Agenda Item Summary- audit
	2- February 20, 2018 - Regular Board Meeting Minutes
	Grand Junction Regional Airport Authority Board

	3- Agenda Item Summary- G4S Invoice
	4- Agenda Item Summary- Goodwin Services,
	5- Agenda Item Summary- DKMG
	6- Agenda Item Summary- Garver invoice TW A
	7- Agenda Item Summary- Garver invoice Apron
	8- Agenda Item Summary- Mead & Hunt invoice PLB
	9- Agenda Item Summary- Mead & Hunt invoice Term Bldg
	10- Agenda Item Summary- Junction Aero Tech tri party
	11- Agenda Item Summary- HUB
	12- Agenda Item Summary- sky adventures sublease



